
 

 

 
 

BOARD 

OF 

COMMISSIONERS 
 

 

 

October 05, 2020 

7:00 PM 

 

 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  October 05, 2020 

  Page 2 of 3 

 

 

This agenda is only a tentative schedule of matters the Commissioners may address at their 

meeting and all items found on it may be deleted, amended or deferred. The Commissioners may 

also, in their absolute discretion, consider matters not shown on this agenda. 
 

Special accommodations for the disabled who attend public meetings can be made by contacting 

the Clerk to the Board 24 hours in advance at 252-338-6363, Ext. 100. 

 

Please turn Cell Phone ringers off during the meeting. 
 

Agenda 
 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

BOC - Regular Meeting 

October 05, 2020 

7:00 PM 

Historic Courtroom, Courthouse Complex 

 

 Welcome & Call to Order 

 Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance 

 Commissioner Ross Munro 

ITEM 1. Public Comments 

It is requested that comments be limited to (2-3) minutes. The length and number of comments 

may be limited upon the Chairman’s discretion due to scheduling and other issues. 

ITEM 2. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement 

ITEM 3. Consideration of Agenda (For discussion and possible action) 

Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors 

Reconvene Board of Commissioners 

ITEM 4. Public Hearings 

A. Camden Commerce Park Property Sale 

ITEM 5. New Business (For discussion and possible action) 

A. South Mills Landing 

B. Tax Report 

C. Resolution 2020-10-01 - Proposed Hands-Free Law 



Agenda – Camden County Board of Commissioners  October 05, 2020 

  Page 3 of 3 

 

ITEM 6. Board Appointments (For discussion and possible action) 

A. Tourism Development Authority 

ITEM 7. Consent Agenda  

A. BOC Meeting Minutes - September 8, 2020 

B. Budget Amendments 

C. DMV Monthly Report 

D. Tax Collection Report 

E. Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 

F. Refunds Over $100.00 

G. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

H. Surplus Property Request 

I. Order for the Collection of 2020 Taxes 

J. ABC Funds Report FY 2019-2020 

K. Proclamation - Domestic Violence Awareness Month 

L. Set Public Hearing - Rezoning Application 

ITEM 8. County Manager's Report 

ITEM 9. Commissioners' Reports 

ITEM 10. Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

A. Register of Deeds Report 

B. Library Report 

ITEM 11. Other Matters (For discussion and possible action) 

ITEM 12. Closed Session - Personnel / Review Closed Session Minutes 

ITEM 13. Adjourn 



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Public Hearings 

 

Item Number: 4.A 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Camden Commerce Park Property Sale 

 

Attachments: Performance Agreement-ao27Jul20 FINAL

 (DOCX) 

 
Summary: 

The Board of Commissioners will hold a Public Hearing to receive input on the sale of property 

in Camden Commerce Park to Southeastern Equipment Corporation as described in the attached 

Performance Agreement. 

Recommendation: 

Hold Public Hearing and add to the agenda for consideration. 

4.A

Packet Pg. 4



PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 

 

This Performance Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of August 4, 

2020 by and between Camden County, North Carolina, acting by and through the Board of 

Commissioners and the Economic Development Commission (the “County”) and Southeastern 

Equipment (the “Company”). 

 
WHEREAS, the Company has acquired certain real property in the Camden Commerce 

Park, Camden County, North Carolina, containing 16 +/- acres, more or less, (the “Site”), for the 

location of a heavy earthmoving equipment facility (the “Facility”) offering for sale, rental, and 

auction new and used equipment (the “Project”). The Company contemplates an investment in 

Camden County in land, buildings, and equipment of $9 Million within Eighteen Months (18) 

months of the acquisition of the Site, and further contemplates creation of 5-8 new full-time jobs 

by that time, all with an average annual compensation, excluding benefits, of at least $35,000.00, 

and proposes to maintain such investment and number of jobs for at least ten (10) years; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has determined that the proposed Project will benefit the residents 

of Camden County, North Carolina by stimulating local commerce and trade, increasing 

employment, and providing substantial direct tax revenues; and 

 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto acknowledge that the participation by the County is for the 

benefit of the residents of the County and therefore the Company recognizes its obligation to 

employ residents of the County whenever possible; and 

 
WHEREAS, the parties hereto wish to articulate and pledge their mutual commitments to 

one another. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, 

and other good and valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows: 

 

 

 

       

 
-1- 

4.A.a

Packet Pg. 5

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t-
ao

27
Ju

l2
0 

F
IN

A
L

  (
28

04
 :

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

m
m

er
ce

 P
ar

k 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 S
al

e)



ARTICLE I 

OBJECTIVES 

 

 

1.1 The parties hereby agree that, in consideration of the Company undertaking the Project 

with its employment opportunities, investment, tax revenues and utility revenues in the County, 

the County intends to provide the respective incentives set forth herein. 

 

1.2 The Company hereby agrees that in consideration of the provision of said incentives, it 

intends to develop and maintain the Project in the County in accordance with the terms hereof and 

undertake reasonable efforts to employ residents of Camden County. 

 
ARTICLE II 

THE COMPANY’S COMMITMENTS 
 

 
2.1 In consideration of the performance by the County of their Commitments set out in Article 

III, the Company proposes that the Project will result in the following: 

 

(i) An investment in land, buildings, and equipment of not less than $9 Million within 

eighteen (18) months following the acquisition of the property and maintain such land, buildings, 

and equipment for a period of ten (10) years (the “Maintenance Period”) commencing on the date 

of issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy for The Facility. 

 

2.2 The Company proposes to comply in all material respects with all federal, state, and local 

regulations, sewer ordinance, and requirements related to the Project, including other 

documentation in connection with all incentive programs as described in this Performance 

Agreement. 

 

2.3 While the Company is a minor emitter of materials into the air, water and soil; it will 

comply with all permitted applications to allow it to perform business in Camden County. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

      -2- 

4.A.a

Packet Pg. 6

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t-
ao

27
Ju

l2
0 

F
IN

A
L

  (
28

04
 :

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

m
m

er
ce

 P
ar

k 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 S
al

e)



 

2.4 Company shall provide 60 foot easement for a possible future roadway along the eastern 

boundary of the property. County has installed Sewer lines along Eco Park Drive & along eastern 

boundary running from Lot 14 to Lot 19.  The Company shall provide to the County a 20 foot 

maintenance easement along the property’s eastern boundary centered on the sewer line.         

The 20-foot maintenance easement can be within the Sixty (60) Right of Way (ROW) easement. 

 

2.5 The Company will need to purchase a water meter and connection from South Mills Water 

Association (SMWA), and a sewer connection from South Camden Water and Sewer District. 

 

       

ARTICLE III 

THE COUNTY’S COMMITMENTS 

 

3.1 The County, acting by and through the Board of Commissioners and the Economic 

Development Commission, acknowledges that certain commitments are hereby made to the 

Company to induce it to develop the Project in Camden County, North Carolina. 

 

3.2 The County, pursuant to statutory authority, proposes to provide the following assistance 

in support of the Project: 

(i) Design and construct the access road to the site (Lot 14), approximately 500 linear feet in 

length and up to 18 feet in width.  

3.3 County staff will meet with the Company’s design professional for review of the project’s 

site plan and provide written comments within ten working days. Following staff review the site 

plan will require review / approval by the County Stormwater Engineer and the Camden County 

Planning Board. The County acknowledges that the acquisition of the Site for the Facility shall be 

subject to obtaining all zoning, subdivision and building approvals required to permit the 

Company’s intended uses of the Site.   

3.4 The County also acknowledges that the acquisition of the Site is subject to the Company’s 

completion of its due diligence including but not limited to title, survey, environmental, and 

geotechnical.  

 

      -3- 

4.A.a

Packet Pg. 7

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t-
ao

27
Ju

l2
0 

F
IN

A
L

  (
28

04
 :

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

m
m

er
ce

 P
ar

k 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 S
al

e)



3.5 The County will install internet access to a single point within the Commerce Park. The 

Company will be responsible for extending connection to their business. 

3.6 The County will coordinate with Albemarle Electric Cooperative to extend electrical 

service to boundary of Lot 14.  The Company will be responsible for the service connection. 

       

3.7 The County will coordinate with The Company on State approvals of required storm water-

wetland features to accommodate initial and future development. Any development shall require 

Stormwater Plans to be reviewed and approved in accordance with the Camden County 

Stormwater Drainage Manual.                   

(i) The Company agrees to design their stormwater improvements to accept runoff for the   

500-foot road extension. 

(ii) The County is not obligated to construct or provide funding for the actual required 

stormwater improvements. 

 
ARTICLE IV 

REMEDIES FOR FAILURE TO PERFORM 

 

4.1 The Company will provide reasonable verification of its compliance with the maintenance 

commitment and the investment commitment as set out in Article II, Section 2.1 (i) herein. 

Progress reports will be provided annually on April 1, starting at April 1, 2021, and covering the 

period through the end of the prior calendar year. With each such progress report, the Company 

shall report to County the amount invested and maintained by the Company in the prior calendar 

year. County pledges to the Company that it considers such information to be confidential 

proprietary information that is exempt from public disclosure under the North Carolina Freedom 

of Information Act and that such information will be used by County solely in calculating 

aggregate return on invested capital analyses for purposes of gauging the overall effectiveness of 

economic development incentives. 

4.2   Repayment Obligation: If the Company fails to meet or defaults on its investment 

obligation at any time during the Maintenance Period as set out in Article II, 2.1(i) of this 

Performance Agreement, then the County shall provide the Company with a written notice of 

default after which the Company will be given ninety (90) days following receipt of such notice 

 

 

 

-4- 

4.A.a

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t-
ao

27
Ju

l2
0 

F
IN

A
L

  (
28

04
 :

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

m
m

er
ce

 P
ar

k 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 S
al

e)



to cure such default. If the default has not been cured by the end of the ninety (90) day period, the 

Company shall repay to the County that portion of the value of the incentives as set forth in 

Section 3.2 (i) that is proportional to the shortfall.  

 

4.3  Determination of Inability to Comply: If the County shall determine at any time prior to the 

expiration of the Maintenance Period that the Company is unable or unwilling to meet and 

Maintain its Investment, and if the County shall have promptly notified the Company of such 

determination, the Company must repay to the County that portion of the value of the incentives  

as set forth in Section 3.2 (i), that is proportional to the shortfall. Such a determination will be 

based on such circumstances as a filing by or on behalf of the Company under Chapter 7 of the 

U.S. Bankruptcy Code, the liquidation of the Company, an abandonment of the Facility by the 

Company or other similar significant event that demonstrates the Company will be unable or is 

unwilling to satisfy the Target for the economic incentives. Such repayment shall be due from the 

Company to the County within ninety days of the written notice by County. 

 
 

ARTICLE V 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 
5.1 The parties agree to execute and deliver such additional instruments and documents, 

provide such additional financial or technical information, and to act with due diligence and good 

faith to comply with the terms of this Performance Agreement, and to work together in a mutually 

supportive manner to accomplish the realization of the Project. 

 

5.2 The terms of this Performance Agreement shall be subject to the approval of the County’s 

Board of Commissioners, the Directors of the County’s Economic Development Commission, and 

the Company. 

       

5.3 All communications and notices regarding this Performance Agreement shall be delivered 

by registered first class mail, postage prepaid, or by nationally recognized courier for delivery on 

the next business day, or by telecopy (with such telecopy to be promptly confirmed in writing sent 

by mail or overnight courier as aforesaid) as follows: 
                                                                           

 

 

 

-5- 

4.A.a

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t-
ao

27
Ju

l2
0 

F
IN

A
L

  (
28

04
 :

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

m
m

er
ce

 P
ar

k 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 S
al

e)



 

CAMDEN COUNTY                                    County Manager 

P.O. Box 190 

330 East Highway 158 

Camden, NC 27921 

      kbowman@camdencountync.gov 

 

 

 

SOUTHEASTERN EQUIPMENT  Bryan Smith 

2506 S Military Hwy 

Chesapeake, VA 23320 

       bsmith@secva.net 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused its name to be hereunto subscribed by its 

Board of Directors, and the County has caused its name to be hereunto subscribed by the Chairman 

of the Board of Commissioners, the Chairman of the Economic Development Commission and the 

Clerk of the Board, as of the date hereinafter written. 

 

 

CAMDEN COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION  

 

BY:   
 

DATE Gregg Stewart, Chairman 

 

ATTESTED BY: 
 

 

Secretary 
 

CAMDEN COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

BY:     
 

DATE Tom White, Chairman 

 
 

ATTESTED BY: 
 

 

Clerk to the Board 

 

                    

 

 

-6- 

4.A.a

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t-
ao

27
Ju

l2
0 

F
IN

A
L

  (
28

04
 :

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

m
m

er
ce

 P
ar

k 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 S
al

e)

mailto:kbowman@camdencountync.gov
mailto:bsmith@secva.net


CHESAPEAKE, VIRGINIA 

SOUTHEASTERN EQUIPMENT CORP  

 

                                                By:     
 

DATE Bryan Smith, President 

 

ATTESTED BY: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                            -7- 

4.A.a

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 A

g
re

em
en

t-
ao

27
Ju

l2
0 

F
IN

A
L

  (
28

04
 :

 C
am

d
en

 C
o

m
m

er
ce

 P
ar

k 
P

ro
p

er
ty

 S
al

e)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 5.A 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   South Mills Landing 

 

Attachments: South Mills Landing_AgendaSummary100520

 (DOCX) 

8-26-20 Draft SML  Development Agreement updated 

per 8-25-20 meeting

 (DOCX) 

ExhibitD with fees Fiscal Year AND CAPACITIES

 (XLSX) 

SML Phasing Plan North (PDF) 

SML Phasing Plan South (PDF) 

 
Public Hearing was held at the September 8, 2020 Regular Meeting of the Board of 

Commissioners.  The Board voted to table a decision until the October 5, 2020 Regular Meeting.  

See attached summary and supporting documentation.   

5.A

Packet Pg. 12



 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

          

 

Meeting Date:  October 5, 2020 

 

Attachments:   Master Plan/Preliminary Plan/ Staff Findings/TRC inputs/Draft 

Development Agreement/Development Impact Statement 

 

Submitted By: Planning Department  

 

Item Title:   Development Agreement and Master Plan/Preliminary Plat for 

South Mills Landing Planned Development Major Subdivision  

 

Summary: 

 

South Mills Landing LLC is requesting Master Plan/Preliminary Plan approval for South 

Mills Landing Planned Development.  The documents listed above have been submitted 

with application.  

 

The development consists of 580 single-family and multi-family dwellings, commercial 

and recreational areas with club house, pool, and walking paths.  The subdivision is 

located within the South Mills Core Village area on the north and south sides of Main 

Street.  The phasing schedule anticipation is for build out within 6 to 10 years. 

 

South Mills Water Association and South Camden Water & Sewer District have 

approved water and sewer capacity, respectively for Phase 1 of 129 units.  Water and 

sewer for additional Phases are in the Development Agreement.  The Technical Review 

Committee inputs are varied and are included in package.   

 

The existing Storm Water Model is complete and the post Storm Water Drainage Plan 

will require approval of the County storm water engineer.   

 

Upon approval of the preliminary plat, construction plans will be completed and require 

approval of staff and state and local technical agencies prior to beginning construction. 

 

A Public Hearing was held at the September 8, 2020 Regular Meeting of the Board of 

Commissioners.  The Board voted 4-0 to table a decision until the October 5, 2020 

Regular Meeting. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

1. Approve/deny/ or approve with modification the South Mills Landing 

Development Agreement – Ordinance No. 2020-09-01.   

 

 

2. Approve/deny/ or approve with modifications UDO 2020-01-36 - South Mills 

Landing Master Plan and Preliminary Plat. 

 

5.A.a

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
_A

g
en

d
aS

u
m

m
ar

y1
00

52
0 

 (
28

05
 :

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
L

an
d

in
g

)



 

1 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-09-01 
Adopted by the Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 
 
 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY OF CAMDEN 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

THIS DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this “Development Agreement”) is made this ____ day 
of ___________________, 2020, by and between the County of Camden, a North Carolina County 
possessing the powers of a Unified Government pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 153A-471 (2010) existing 
under the laws of the State of North Carolina (the “County”), and South Mills Landing LLC, (SML) a 
North Carolina LLC, as the owner of the property subject to this Development Agreement, and  as the 
developer of the property subject to this Development Agreement, (SML together with their 
successors and assigns).  
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, SML owns a parcel of approximately three tracts totaling 233.68 acres (the 
“Property”), and more than twenty-five (25) acres of the Property is developable within the jurisdiction 
of the County.  A legal description of the Property is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

 
WHEREAS, SML intends to establish a large-scale mixed use community on the Property 

known as “South Mills Landing,” which SML intends to be comprised of approximately 580 single 
family and town home lots, 5 acres of commercial space, a clubhouse and pool. The Master Plan and 
Preliminary Plat Cover Pages and representation of phasing schedule showing South Mills Landing is 
attached hereto as Exhibit B; Typical building elevations including a preliminary building plan and 
swimming pool for the proposed club house and recreation facility are included as Exhibit C.  and the 
Development Schedule for South Mills Landing (the “Development Schedule”) required by N.C.G.S. § 
153A-349.6(b) is attached hereto as Exhibit D; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has rezoned the Property to a Planned Development (“PD”) and as 

represented by Exhibit B has been submitted for approval by the County as a Master Plan pursuant 
to the County’s land development regulations.  SML and the County anticipate that South Mills 
Landing will be developed in multiple phases, extending over a period of years and requiring a long-
term commitment of SML’s resources, and will require the careful integration between public capital 
facilities planning, financing and construction schedules, as well as the phasing of South Mills 
Landing, to be successful from the County’s and SML’s standpoints; and  

WHEREAS, South Mills Landing involves a substantial commitment of private capital by SML, 
which SML is unwilling to risk without sufficient assurances that development standards will remain 
stable through the extended phasing of South Mills Landing; and 

 
WHEREAS, because of the type, size and location of South Mills Landing, the County and 

SML believe that the orderly completion of South Mills Landing will be difficult to accommodate 
through the County’s traditional zoning processes alone; and 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 14

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

2 

 

 

 
WHEREAS, the County finds that South Mills Landing is a development suitable to be planned 

and developed through a Development Agreement as permitted by Part 3A of Article 18 of Chapter 
153A of the North Carolina General Statutes and that it is in the County’s interests to enter into this 
Development Agreement because significant benefits to the County and its citizens will be realized as 
a result of this Development Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, the County has published notices of and has held a public hearing concerning this 

Development Agreement as required by N.C.G.S. § 153A-349.5 (2010) and otherwise completed all 
steps, conditions and requirements necessary for the County Board of Commissioners to consider the 
adoption of this Development Agreement as permitted by law; and 

 
WHEREAS, after holding the public hearing and carefully considering the terms and conditions 

of this Development Agreement, the County Board of Commissioners duly adopted this Development 
Agreement as an ordinance as required by N.C.G.S. § 153A-349.3 (2010) and directed its execution 
by the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners and attestation by the Clerk to the Board. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained 

herein and other good and valuable consideration, and pursuant to North Carolina law, including 
N.C.G.S. § 153A-349.1 (2010) et seq., the County and SML agree as follows: 

 
1. Effective Date. 

The Effective Date is the date this Development Agreement is executed by both parties after the 
adoption of this Development Agreement by the County Board of Commissioners as an 
Ordinance.  The County shall sign and deliver this Development Agreement to SML within five 
(5) days of adopting the Ordinance. 

  

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 15

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

3 

 

 

2. Definitions. 

2.1. Certain terms having specific definitions are used in this Agreement, and these terms and 
definitions, unless the context clearly indicates to the contrary, are set forth in  Section 2.  
Otherwise, the meaning shall be as used in the context of the sentence in which it 
appears and not necessarily that as defined herein. 

2.2. “South Mills Landing” – means the Property, as it is intended to be developed, 
substantially in accordance with Exhibit B, as that may be amended from time to time in 
accordance with applicable County ordinances. 

2.3. “Development Permit” – means a building permit, zoning permit, subdivision approval, site 
plan approval, special or conditional use permit, variance or any other official action by 
the County having the effect of permitting the development of property. 

2.4. “Land Development Regulations” – means ordinances and regulations enacted by the 
County for the regulation of any aspect of development and includes zoning, subdivision 
or any other land development ordinances. 

2.5. “Laws” – means all ordinances, resolutions, regulations, comprehensive plans, land 
development regulations, policies, and rules adopted by the County affecting the 
development of property, and includes laws governing permitted uses of the property, 
density, design and improvements. 

2.6. “Property” – means all real property owned by SML and described on Exhibit A that is 
subject to land-use regulation by the County and includes any improvements or structures 
customarily regarded as a part of real property. 

3. Background 

3.1. South Mills Landing, LLC is the owner of 3 tracts of land as follows: The North Tract 
consisting of 124.83 acres located off of Horseshoe Road, the South Tract consisting of 
60.1 acres located off of Maple Street, and an undeveloped tract adjacent to the South 
Tract consisting of 44.39 acres, referred to as the Environment Tract. Legal Descriptions 
of these properties are attached as Exhibit A. 

3.2. The North and South Tracts were rezoned to PUD (Planned Unit Development) in 2004, 
now Planned Development (PD) under the current UDO. A Concept Plan for a Planned 
Development of 581 units was reviewed and approved administratively in 2019, and a 
Master Plan was submitted in January, 2020 for a 580 unit Planned Development, which 
is in substantiated conformance with the approved Concept Plan. A Preliminary Plat for 
the 580 units, approximately 5 acres, and clubhouse facilities has now also been 
submitted. 

4. Legal Description of Property 

The Property that is the subject of the Agreement consists of 3 tracts totaling 233.68 acres, as 
follows: 

4.1. The North Tract located off of Horseshoe Road, PIN #017989004312900000 with 
acreage of 124.83 acres per plat, attached as Exhibit "A". 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

4 

 

 

4.2. The South Tract located off Main Street, PIN #017988014928370000 consisting of 60.1 
acres per plat, also attached as Exhibit "A". 

4.3. The third undeveloped, or environmental tract located adjacent to the South Tract, PIN 
#017988004738040000 consisting of 48.75 acres per plat, also attached as Exhibit "A". 
(The third tract is not part of the PD-zoned property, but is included in what is being 
offered as part of this Development Agreement 

5. Description of Project 

5.1. The Development is shown on the Master Plan and the Preliminary Plat, now referred to 
as the "Plan". The Plan consists of the Master Plan prepared by Bissell Professional 
Group and dated revised 6-10-20, and the Preliminary Plat also prepared by Bissell 
Professional Group and dated revised 6-10-20. Typical building elevations including a 
preliminary building plan and swimming pool for the proposed club house and recreation 
facility are included as Exhibit C. These plans and elevations show the concept but are 
subject to change during actual design based on market conditions. 

5.2. The development is summarized in the following table: 
 
DEVELOPMENT SUMMARY 
 

 
AREA S.F. LOT SIZE Multi F. TOTAL OPEN SPACE 

TRACT (AC.) LOTS RANGE UNITS UNITS (AC.) 

NORTH 124.83 285 6,500-15,978 50 335 40.64 

SOUTH 60.10 98 6,500-11,783 147 245 23.31 

TOTAL 184.93 383 6,500-15,978 197 580 63.95 

5.3. The density/intensity standards, dimensional standards and development standards for 
development of the Property shall be in accordance with the Master Plan and Schedule 
B, subject to the degree of flexibility provided in these conditions. 

5.4. Community form and design for development of the Property shall conform generally to 
the sample  building  elevations  attached  in Exhibit C. Variations may be provided and 
shall be permitted in colors, materials, and architectural detailing that are compatible with 
the design concept. The elevations are similar to, but do not represent exactly, the actual 
homes that will be constructed within South Mills Landing. The Developer reserves the 
right to modify the final building plans to fit builder preferences and market conditions. 

6. Dedication of Land for Public Use 

6.1. South Mills Landing proposes to dedicate the third tract (PIN #017988004738040000) 
consisting of approximately 48.75 acres per plat, also known as the undeveloped, 
environmentally sensitive area, for public use. SML shall retain the right to utilize this tract 
for stormwater management purposes in connection with the planned community. 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

5 

 

 

6.2. South Mills Landing will also dedicate utility easements for the maintenance of the 
wastewater collection system, including sewer lines and lift stations. 

7. Public Facilities 

7.1. Subject to the approval of the NC Department of Environmental Quality, a new public 
waste water collection system including gravity lines, lift stations and force mains will be 
constructed to serve South Mills Landing and will connect to the County wastewater 
disposal system. All gravity sewer mains, force mains, pump stations and appurtenances 
will be designed, permitted and constructed at the Developer's sole expense and then 
conveyed in fee simple to Camden County for ownership and maintenance. 

7.2. The Developer will also install a new water main (size to be determined based on 
modeling) under the Dismal Swamp Canal from Mullen Street on the East side of the 
canal for the purpose providing the public water supply system to serve South Mills 
Landing only, including adequate fire flow for firefighting ability of the South Mills 
Volunteer Fire Department. Individual lots and dwellings shall be metered. The Developer 
shall model the water system and make any needed improvements (specifics will be 
agreed to following modeling) to demonstrate adequate water flow and pressure for 
fighting fires, while meeting the maximum day domestic demand. 

7.3. All water and sewer lines will be installed: 1) outside of the paved roadway;  and 2) above 
the 100 year flood elevation or be completely waterproofed. 

7.4. The Developer will commit funds in the amount of $92,729 to be used by Camden County 
in the following ways for Public Facilities: 

A. Streetscape improvements along Main Street through the main business corridor of 
South Mills such as sidewalks, street lights, landscape planting, and related 
improvements in general conformance with the Concept Plan prepared by Bissell 
Professional Group and attached hereto.  South Mills Landing shall hold attend at 
least one community meeting prior to approval of Phase 1 construction plans to 
determine the types, locations, and details of improvements preferred by the current 
South Mills community. 

B. Install sidewalk on the south side of US 17 Business (Main St.) from Jones Ave. to 
the entrance of the Southern Tract. 

7.5 South Mills Water Association, Inc. (Association), is a private North Carolina Non-Profit 
Corporation. As such, County cannot compel performance, acceptance, agreement, or 
cooperation with this corporation which will be necessary to carry out the terms of Section 7  
and the following Section 8. The County does, however, commit to furnish Association, if it 
will accept, at commercially reasonable rates, the water necessary to accomplish the terms 
of this Agreement and to use its good offices and best efforts with Association to 
accomplish terms of Section 7 and 8 herein. However, it the sole responsibility of 
Developer to negotiate and contract with Association, assuming all costs therein, to satisfy 
the terms of this Agreement. Failure of Developer to successfully timely conclude such 
arrangement shall be a material breach f the Agreement for which County shall bear no 
responsibility. 

Formatted: Strikethrough

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

6 

 

 

8. Obligations of South Mills Landing LLC 

8.1. Install a wastewater collection system as approved by Camden County and the NC 
Department of Environmental Quality; pay for all normal costs associated with the 
preparation of the Engineering Plans, DWR permitting, and the collection system 
construction and dedication to Camden County. Upon completion and certification, the 
Developer will deed the wastewater collection system to Camden County. 

8.2. Purchase capacity for 580 sewer connections in the Camden County Wastewater 
System, to serve phases 1 through 5, commercial development, and clubhouse facilities 
through payment of a System Development Fee and Connection Fee for each of the 
County Sewer Connections per Section 10 and Exhibit D of this agreement. 

8.3. Install a water main under the Dismal Swamp Canal as described in Section 7.2, and as 
approved by the South Mills Water Association and the NC Public Water Supply Section, 
and upon completion and certification, dedicate the water main for public use. 

8.4. Pay water tap fees to South Mills Water Association in advance of development of each 
phase as set forth in Development Schedule Exhibit D so that capacity fees can be paid by 
SMWA to Camden County. 

8.5. Adhere to conditions of the Master Plan and Preliminary Plat approvals as approved by the 
Camden County Board of Commissioners. 

8.6. Up to 50,000 square feet of commercial development will be constructed in the area set 
aside for commercial development on the Master Plan. Water and sewer lines will be stubbed 
to the commercial area property line simultaneous with Phase 1 of the residential 
development. 

8.7. Environmental Protection and Monitoring: Wetlands subject to the jurisdiction of the US Army 
Corps of Engineers have been delineated and confirmed by the Corps of Engineers. The 
Property Owners Association Documents (Declaration) will include provisions that prohibit the 
filling of wetlands and prohibit the clearing of any vegetation other than incidental tree cutting 
and vegetation removal, and for stormwater management. 

9. Obligations of the County 

9.1. Utilize funds provided by South Mills Landing, LLC for the construction of community 
improvements as described in the Public Facilities section of this Agreement. 

9.2. Make sewer taps available upon the payment of System Development Fees and 
Connection Fees by the Developer in accordance with Section 10 of this agreement and 
the phasing schedule Exhibit D provided and approved with the Master Plan and the 
Preliminary Plat. 

9.3. Furnish a supply of water from the South Camden Water and Sewer District to South Mills 
Water Association as requested by South Mills Water Association.  

A. The County will reserve water capacity for South Mills Landing based on providing 
200 GPD per water connection for which the county has received the System Fee 
payment from SMWA of per connection according to the Water Sales Agreement 
between Camden County and South Mills Water Association.  

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

7 

 

 

10. Sewer System Development Fees 

10.1. In making plans for maintaining, upgrading and expanding the County's sewer systems 
in order to provide sufficient sewage treatment capacity for citizens of the County, the 
County shall take into account the homes and amenities planned for the South Mills 
Landing Subdivision shown on the approved South Mills Landing Plan, and shall 
allocate and reserve sufficient sewer treatment capacity within its sewer systems to 
supply adequate quantities of sewer treatment services to the South Mills Landing 
Subdivision to construct and obtain certificates of occupancy for each of the homes, 
non-residential buildings and amenities planned for the South Mills Landing Subdivision. 

10.2. SML shall pay sewer system development fees to the County based upon the actual 
number of lots developed and permitted on the SML during each County fiscal year or 
based upon Exhibit D per County fiscal year. During each County fiscal year, sewer 
system development fees shall be fully paid on an approved lot basis at the time of the 
issuance of a building permit for each lot. 

10.3. The County's fiscal year runs from July 1 through June 30.  Commencing with the 
County's fiscal year in accordance with the schedule set out below. South Mills Landing 
shall pay to the County the standard per lot Sewer System Development Fees charged 
by the County for each of the 580 residential lots, clubhouse/pool and commercial lots 
planned to be developed on the SML property as follows: 

A. Allocation Payment- 25% per connection to be paid upon approval of Construction 
Drawings for each development phase. 

B. Reservation Payment- 25% per connection as a condition of recording the Final 
Plat for each phase. 

C. Residual Payment- 50% per connection to be paid at the application for a building 
permit for each lot or unit. Connection to the system shall also require payment at 
building permit application of the Connection Fee per lot tap fee. 

10.4. Upon payment of the first 25% of the Sewer System Development Fee per lot, the county 
will allocate 200 GPD of capacity per each lot. This allocation is for planning purposes 
only and is not considered a reservation of capacity and is non-refundable. 

10.5. Upon payment, an additional 25% of the sewer system development fee per lot, the 
county will reserve 200 GPD sewer capacity per lot.  Within fifteen (15) days of the end 
of each County fiscal year, South Mills Landing and the County shall reconcile their 
records to determine what, if any, shortfall actually exists between the number of units 
required by Section 10.2 and actual building permits issued.  

10.6. If South Mills Landing develops and permits more lots than required in Exhibit D in any 
County fiscal year, then the number of developed and permitted lots in excess of the 
number required shall be credited to the next County fiscal year lot requirements.  

10.7. If South Mills Landing does not develop and obtain a building permit for at least the 
number of lots set out in Exhibit D in any County fiscal year then South Mills Landing 
shall pay to the County the shortfall in Sewer System Development Fees within thirty 
(30) days after the end of the County fiscal year. Camden County will credit the amount 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

8 

 

 

paid due to the shortfall toward System Development Fees and Connection Fees for 
future building permits requested by South Mills Landing; however the credit will not 
reduce the number of lots required to be developed according to Exhibit D in the 
following fiscal year. This obligation will terminate when South Mills Landing has paid 
cumulative fees (reservations, system development fees, and connection fees) in the 
amount of $3.5 million. 

10.8. The initial per lot sewer capital fee shall be $7,400. Sewer capital fee rates shall be 
subject to the sewer rate schedules adopted annually by the Board of Commissioners.  

10.9. For the purposes of determining the amount of System Development Fee payments 
only, building permit issuance prior to June 30th of the relevant County fiscal year shall 
trigger the standard capital fee payments only if actual construction is begun within forty-
five (45) days. Requesting building permits for lots not ready for home construction for 
the purpose of acquiring more favorable System Development Fee rates shall be 
considered a material breach of this Agreement. 

10.10. In the event that lots are developed within the South Mills Landing and homes are 
constructed thereon and ready for occupancy per the Development Schedule but prior to 
the Sewer Availability Date, then the County agrees, at its sole cost and expense, to 
pump and haul excess sewage from the treatment plant in order to maintain compliance 
with state and federal permits and continue serving the waste water needs of County 
citizens including those in SML. 

10.11. Until such time as public sewer is actually available, pump and haul arrangements shall 
be subject to all superseding state and federal laws and regulations. All required permits 
and approvals shall be the responsibility of the County to obtain and the County will 
diligently pursue the issuance of all required permits and approvals. 

11. Public Roads, Public Streets, and Private Streets to serve South Mills Landing. 

11.1. Connection to Existing Public Roads.  SML will be responsible for securing appropriate 
permits from the North Carolina Department of Transportation (“NCDOT”) for connecting 
South Mills Landing to the existing public road system maintained by NCDOT.  To that 
end, SML agrees to make all improvements to the public road system required by 
NCDOT.  SML and the County agree to cooperate and assist each other in connection 
with the planning of connections to the public road system as well as improvements to the 
public road system; however, the County shall have no duty to fund the construction of 
improvements to the public road system required by NCDOT in connection with South 
Mills Landing. 

11.2. Public Streets within South Mills Landing.  SML anticipates that there will be a number of 
streets built to NCDOT standards for public residential streets.  SML will be solely 
responsible for the design and construction and cost of these streets.  SML shall have a 
continuing obligation to repair and maintain these streets until the public streets are 
accepted by NCDOT for maintenance or SML transfers the obligations to repair and 
maintain the streets to one or more property owners associations (POA) established as 
part of South Mills Landing.  SML may not transfer the duties to repair and maintain these 
streets to the POA until the County has reviewed and approved the documents 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

9 

 

 

establishing the POA, and SML has either provided an engineering certification that the 
roads meet NCDOT standards or established a reserve account with sufficient funds to 
cover any needed repairs. 

12. Stormwater Management and Wetlands. 

12.1. Stormwater Management.  SML will be solely responsible for the design, permitting, 
construction, repair and maintenance of the stormwater management system to serve 
South Mills Landing.  SML’s Stormwater Management Plan for South Mills Landing will 
include stormwater management devices which meet or exceed the minimum criteria of 
the North Carolina Department of Environmental and Natural Resources (DENR), 
Camden County, and incorporate drainage ways, ponds and wetlands that treat and 
control stormwater passively by taking advantage of naturally occurring processes. 

 
12.2. On-site stormwater will be managed by construction of a series of stormwater 

management ponds that will be interconnected and will retain and slow-release 
stormwater to existing drainage outlets both directly and indirectly. 

A. In addition to modeling and retaining stormwater to the UDO and Stormwater 
Manual standard for the 10-year developed condition and runoff, stormwater will be 
modeled for the 100-year storm event, and property line berms constructed as 
necessary to manage the 100-year storm without adversely impacting neighboring 
properties. 

B. Stormwater will be conveyed to on-site retention ponds through a combination of 
curbs with inlets, stormwater pipes, and open vegetated swales. 

C. The Improvements set forth in this section shall be maintained by the Developer, or 
a management association created by the Developer. 

D. The Association, either itself or via a management entity, will assume responsibility 
for ongoing operation and maintenance of all stormwater management facilities in 
accordance with the Camden County UDO requirements and all NCDEQ permit 
requirements. The Association dues will be structured in a way that funds are 
provided for the upkeep of these facilities, as well as a contribution to off-site ditch 
maintenance. 

12.3. Improve off-site drainage ways downstream of the Development's stormwater drainage 
outlets by clearing and snagging as necessary to remove obstructions to flow, subject to 
gaining the right of access to make these improvements. 

13. Self-Contained Development. 

South Mills Landing will contain a network of pedestrian and bicycle paths according to the 
approved Master Plan which connect all residential neighborhoods with the amenities within South 
Mills Landing so that residents of South Mills Landing will have the option to walk or ride a bicycle 
to the passive and active recreational opportunities located in South Mills Landing. 

  

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

10 

 

 

14. Phasing and Development Schedule. 

14.1. The proposed schedule for completing the Development that is the subject of this 
Agreement is shown on Exhibit D: 

 

15. Vested Rights to Complete South Mills Landing as Approved; Application of Laws and 
Land Development Regulations. 

15.1. South Mills Landing shall be subject only to the Laws and Land Development Regulations 
enacted and applicable to South Mills Landing at the time of the County’s adoption of this 
Development Agreement as an ordinance and in accordance with the provisions of the 
Development Agreement (the “Existing South Mills Landing Development Law”).  The 
parties agree that SML needs to obtain the following permits or approvals: 

A. Master Plan approval 

B. Preliminary Plat approval 

C. South Mills Water Association water system plans 

D. State Erosion and Control Permit 

E. County Sewer System approval 

F. County Stormwater Plan approval 

G. State Stormwater Plan Permit 

H. Construction Plans 

I. Commercial Site Plan for Clubhouse and Pool 

J. Final Plat approval 

K. Building Permits for all structures pursuant to the North Carolina State Building Code 

L. Comply with the Existing South Mills Landing Development Law in order to complete 
the development of South Mills Landing under local law. Except for changes in the 
County’s System Development Fee schedule. 

M. Laws, rules, regulations or policies adopted by the County or any of its boards, 
officials or staff enacted, adopted, formed or administered after the adoption of this 
Development Agreement, including but not limited to land use, streets, buffers, the 
division of land, grading, landscaping, water, sewer, stormwater, setbacks and 
signage, shall not directly or indirectly be applicable to any aspect of South Mills 
Landing, the development of South Mills Landing as approved, the Existing South 
Mills Landing Development Law or the Property for a period of ten (10) years after 
the Effective Date. 

15.2. The failure of this Development Agreement to identify a particular permit, condition, term 
or restriction does not relieve SML of the necessity of complying with the law governing 
the permitting requirements, conditions, terms or restrictions of local development 
permits.  However, the County represents to SML that the above paragraph identifies all 
permits or approvals which are required by the County prior to the County issuing 
certificates of occupancy for uses and improvements at South Mills Landing. 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

11 

 

 

15.3. In the event that State or federal law is changed after the Effective Date in such a way 
that prevents compliance with this Development Agreement by SML, the County and SML 
will review the terms of the aforementioned agreement, and will work together in good 
faith to modify the affected provisions to the extent reasonable to accomplish both the 
intended purpose of said agreement and the theretofore associated economic benefits 
foreseen by the parties 

16. Review to Assess Compliance with this Development Agreement. 

From time to time, SML and the County may review the good faith execution of the provisions of 
this Development Agreement by the parties to assure compliance with this Development 
Agreement and the accomplishment of the purposes originally intended by the parties.  The 
failure of SML to complete any phases of South Mills Landing within the times set forth in this 
Development Agreement shall not, in and of itself, constitute a material breach of said 
agreement and whether a material breach exists must be judged based on the totality of the 
circumstances.  The County and SML agree that the development schedule may be influenced 
by changing market conditions and that once the initial obligation outlined in paragraph 10.7 has 
been satisfied by SML, a modified development schedule may be proposed that reflects then 
current market conditions. A County officer designated by the Chairman of the County 
Commissioners shall conduct a progress review (“Review”) every twelve (12) months to 
determine whether SML remains in good faith compliance with this Development Agreement 
based upon the totality of the circumstances.- 

17. Default. 

17.1. In the event the County determines in the course of a Review that SML is in material 
breach of this Development Agreement, the County shall, within a reasonable time after 
the Review, send notice to SML setting forth (a) with reasonable particularity the nature of 
the breach and evidence supporting the County’s findings and determination, and (b) a 
reasonable time in which SML may cure the breach.  If SML fails to cure the breach within 
the time provided, the County may unilaterally terminate this Development Agreement by 
sending a termination notice to SML; provided the termination notice may be appealed to 
the County’s Board of Adjustment in the manner provided in N.C.G.S. § 153A-345(b) 
(2010). 

17.2. For all other defaults and breaches of this Development Agreement by either the County 
or SML, the non-defaulting Party shall notify the defaulting Party of the default, specifying 
the nature of the default and providing at least thirty (30) days for the defaulting Party to 
cure the default.  If the default at issue cannot be cured by the defaulting Party within 
thirty (30) days, then the notice shall specify a reasonable cure period in excess of thirty 
(30) days, but in no event more than ninety (90) days.  If the defaulting Party fails to cure 
the default within the cure period provided in the notice, then the non-defaulting Party 
may terminate this Development Agreement or, in the alternative, seek to enforce this 
Development Agreement through any and all remedies available at law or in equity.  

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

12 

 

 

18. Recordation of Agreement. 

Pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 153A-349.11 (2010), within fourteen (14) days after the Effective Date, 
SML shall record this Development Agreement with the register of deeds in Camden County, 
North Carolina. 

19. Term. 

Pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 153A-349.4 (2010), the term of this Development Agreement shall be a 
period of ten (10) years from the Effective Date. 

20. Miscellaneous. 

20.1. This Agreement is not assignable by Developer to any other person or entity without the 
express written permission of County, which permission shall not unreasonably be 
withheld. 

20.1.20.2. Force Majeure.  The parties hereto shall not be liable for any failure to perform 
hereunder as a result of an external event or events beyond their respective control, 
including, without limitation, acts of the United States of America, acts of the State of 
North Carolina, embargos, fire, flood, drought, hurricanes, tornadoes, explosions, acts of 
God or a public enemy, strikes, labor disputes, vandalism or civil riots.  However, if any 
such event interferes with the performance by a party hereunder, such party shall 
diligently and in good faith act to the extent within its power to remedy the circumstances 
affecting its performance or to complete performance in as timely a manner as is 
reasonably possible. 

20.2.20.3. Amendment and Cancellation.  This Development Agreement may be amended 
or canceled by mutual consent of the County and SML, and their successors or assigns.  
Minor amendments will be processed administratively.  Major amendments will require 
Public Hearing.  No amendment to this Development Agreement shall be effective, unless 
such amendment is reduced to a written agreement signed by the parties hereto. 

20.3.20.4. Recitals.  The recitals of this Development Agreement are material terms of this 
Development Agreement and shall be binding upon the parties. 

20.4.20.5. Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of 
this Development Agreement is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by a non-
appealable, final decision from any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be 
deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such holding shall not affect 
the validity of the remaining portions hereof. 

20.5.20.6. Notice.  All notices or other communications required or permitted to be served 
hereunder shall be deemed served in accordance with this Development Agreement if the 
notice is (a) mailed in a sealed wrapper and deposited in the United States mail, certified 
mail, return receipt request, postage prepaid; or (b) deposited with a national overnight 
courier service that retains receipts of its deliveries.  Notices or other communications 
shall be properly addressed as follows: 

Formatted: Strikethrough

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

13 

 

 

The County: County of Camden 
P.O. Box 190 
117 North NC 343 
Camden, NC  27921 
Attn:  County Manager 

SML: South Mills Landing LLC 
PO Box 9636 
Chesapeake, VA  23321 
Attn:  Reese Smith 

The parties may, by written notice given to the other, designate any further 
or different addresses to which all notices or other communications shall be 
sent. 

20.6.20.7. Run with the Land.  This Development Agreement shall run with the Property and 
any portion thereof as it may be subdivided or recombined. 

20.7.20.8. Entire Agreement.  This Development Agreement contains the entire agreement 
between the parties.  Any prior or contemporaneous oral or written agreements are 
merged into this Development Agreement. 

20.8.20.9. Multiple Counterparts.  This Development Agreement may be executed in any 
number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be deemed 
an original, and it shall not be necessary in making proof of this Development Agreement 
to produce or account for more than one such fully executed counterpart. 

20.9.20.10. Applicable Law.  This Development Agreement is governed by, and shall be 
construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of North Carolina. 

20.10.20.11. Representations and Warranties of the Parties.  The County and SML, and the 
persons executing this Development Agreement on their behalf, represent and warrant, 
as applicable, that:  (1) such party or person has the full power and authority to enter into 
this Development Agreement, to execute it on behalf of the party indicated on the 
signature page, and to perform the obligations hereunder; (2) such party is acting on its 
own behalf and on behalf of its members, successors and assigns; (3) this Development 
Agreement is a valid and binding obligation, enforceable against the parties in 
accordance with its terms; (4) entering into this Development Agreement does not conflict 
with any other agreements entered into by either party; and (5) the execution, delivery 
and performance of this Development Agreement has been duly and validly authorized by 
all necessary corporate or governmental action on its part.  Specifically (and not as a 
limitation), the County represents and warrants to SML that this Development Agreement 
has been pre-audited to ensure compliance with the applicable budgetary accounting 
requirements (if any).  In the event that any of the obligations of the County in this 
Development Agreement constitute debt, the County has complied, at the time of the 
obligation to incur the debt and before the debt becomes enforceable against the County, 
with any applicable constitutional and statutory procedures for the approval of the debt. 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

14 

 

 

This instrument has been pre-audited in the manner required by the Local Government Budget 
and Fiscal Control Act. 

 
 
 
 
  
By: 
Stephanie Jackson 
Finance Officer 
Camden County, North Carolina 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

15 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these presents to be executed on 
the day and year indicated below: 
 
 
ATTEST: COUNTY OF CAMDEN 
 
 
 
By:   By:   
 
 
 
 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF _______________ 
 
 This is to certify that on the ___ day of ___________________ in the year 2020, before me 

personally came ________________________, who, being by me duly sworn, has affirmed that she 

is the Clerk to the Camden County Board of Commissioners and that _____________________ is 

the Chairman of the Camden County Board of Commissioners, and that said county is a North 

Carolina County possessing powers of a Unified Government pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 153A-471, 

described in and which executed the foregoing; that she knows the Corporate Seal of said County, 

that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is said Corporate Seal, and the name of the Unified 

Government was subscribed thereto by the said ____________ and that the said corporate seal was 

affixed by order of the governing body of said County, and that the said instrument is the act and 

deed of said County. 

 

 WITNESS my hand and official seal or stamp, this the _______ day of ______________, 

2020. 

 
 
 
 
    
Printed Name Signature 
Notary Public Notary Public 
 
 
My Commission Expires:  Official Seal or Stamp 
  

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

16 

 

 

ATTEST: SOUTH MILLS LANDING, LLC. 
 
 
By:   By:   
 Managing Member 
 
 
 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF _______________ 
 
 I, a Notary Public of ______________ County, North Carolina, do hereby certify that 

_______________________________ personally came before me this day and acknowledged that 

he/she is the _________________ of South Mills Landing LLC., a North Carolina LLC, and that by 

authority duly given and as the act of the corporation, the foregoing instrument was signed in its name 

by its _____________________, sealed with its corporate seal, and attested by (her/him) self as its 

_________________. 

 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal or stamp, this the _______ day of ______________, 

2020. 

 
 
 
 
    
Printed Name Signature 
Notary Public Notary Public 
 
 
My Commission Expires:  Official Seal or Stamp 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



 

17 

 

 

ATTEST: SOUTH MILLS LANDING LLC. 
 
 
By:   By:   
 
 
 
 
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 
 
COUNTY OF _______________ 
 
 
 I, a Notary Public of ______________ County, North Carolina, do hereby certify that 

_______________________________ personally came before me this day and acknowledged that 

he/she is the _________________ of South Mills Landing LLC., a North Carolina, LLC and that by 

authority duly given and as the act of the corporation, the foregoing instrument was signed in its name 

by its _____________________, sealed with its corporate seal, and attested by (her/him) self as its 

_________________. 

 

 WITNESS my hand and official seal or stamp, this the _______ day of ______________, 

2020. 

 
 
 
 
    
Printed Name Signature 
Notary Public Notary Public 
 
 
My Commission Expires:  Official Seal or Stamp 
 

WCSR  3669741v11 

5.A.b

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 8

-2
6-

20
 D

ra
ft

 S
M

L
  D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

g
re

em
en

t 
u

p
d

at
ed

 p
er

 8
-2

5-
20

 m
ee

ti
n

g
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



2020/21 Phase 2021/22 Phase 2022/23 Phase 2023/24 Phase 2024/25 Phase 2025/26 Phase Total

Construction Plan Approval 129 1 178 2 233 3&4 40 5 580

Final Plat Recorded 129 1 178 2 134 3 99 4 40 5 580

Houses Completed per year 11 216 180 130 43 580

Fee Breakdown 25/25/50

Cumulative Sewer Fees ( $1,000) 239$      1,755$   3,989$     5,360$     6,322$       6,322$       

Cumulative Water Fees to County 323$      768$      1,350$     1,350$     1,450$       1,450$       

2020/21 Phase 2021/22 Phase 2022/23 Phase 2023/24 Phase 2024/25 Phase 2025/26 Phase Total

Water Capacity

50,000 

200 50,000 47,800 4,600 (31,400) (57,400) (66,000) 

360 50,000 46,040 (31,720) (96,520) (143,320) (158,800)

Sewer Capacity

60000

200 60,000 57,800 14,600 (21,400) (47,400) (56,000) 

360 60,000 56,040 (21,720) (86,520) (133,320) (148,800)

EXHIBIT D

DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE - Fiscal Years and Capacities

5.A.c

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 E

xh
ib

it
D

 w
it

h
 f

ee
s 

F
is

ca
l Y

ea
r 

A
N

D
 C

A
P

A
C

IT
IE

S
  (

28
05

 :
 S

o
u

th
 M

ill
s 

L
an

d
in

g
)



5.A.d

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

M
L

 P
h

as
in

g
 P

la
n

 N
o

rt
h

  (
28

05
 :

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
L

an
d

in
g

)



5.A.e

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

M
L

 P
h

as
in

g
 P

la
n

 S
o

u
th

  (
28

05
 :

 S
o

u
th

 M
ill

s 
L

an
d

in
g

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 5.B 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Lisa Anderson 

 
Item Title   Tax Report 

 

Attachments: July Tax Report (PDF) 

August Tax Report (PDF) 

 

Summary:  July and August Reports 

 

Recommendation:  Review and approve. 

5.B

Packet Pg. 34



5.B.a

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.a

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.a

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.a

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.a

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.a

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.a

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 J

u
ly

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.b

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.b

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.b

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.b

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.b

Packet Pg. 46

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.b

Packet Pg. 47

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



5.B.b

Packet Pg. 48

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

08
 :

 T
ax

 R
ep

o
rt

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
New Business 

 

Item Number: 5.C 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Resolution 2020-10-01 - Proposed Hands-Free Law 

 

Attachments: Resolution 2020-10-01 (DOCX) 

 
Summary: 

Staff received the attached Resolution from the Lumberton City Council and were requested to 

present to the Board of Commissioners for consideration. 

5.C

Packet Pg. 49



 

Resolution 2020-10-01 

Resolution in Support of North Carolina’s Proposed Hands-Free Law 

 

WHEREAS, according to NCDOT 2018 statistics, there were 313,614 reported motor vehicle 

crashes on North Carolina’s roads and highways that resulted in 1,436 persons killed and 

125,365 persons injured; and 

 

WHEREAS, distracted driving accounted for 19.1% of all crashes, 8.4% of all persons killed and 

19.3% of all persons injured in reported minor vehicle crashes on North Carolina’s highways; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, this peril poses so great a threat to the health, life and safety of the citizens of 

Camden County as to necessitate state legislative action to combat this epidemic; and 

 

WHEREAS, while there are many types of distracted driving behavior, including visual (taking 

eyes off of the road), manual (taking hands off of the wheel), and cognitive (the mind straying 

from the tasks of driving), the enactment of an enforceable law that addresses one of the most 

serious forms of distracted driving will encourage motorists to self-select better driving 

behaviors; and 

 

WHEREAS, a law prohibiting the holding of a wireless communication device, or supporting it 

with a part of the body while driving has proven to reduce distracted driving crashes, injuries and 

deaths in other states;  

 

BE IT RESOLVED, that the County of Camden, through its Board of Commissioners, supports 

revising North Carolina General Statues to prohibit the use of a wireless communication device 

while holding such device in the driver’s hands while operating a motor vehicle. 

 

This, the 5th day of October, 2020. 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

             

Tom White, Chairman    Karen M. Davis 

Camden County Board of Commissioners  Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

 

 

5.C.a

Packet Pg. 50

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

es
o

lu
ti

o
n

 2
02

0-
10

-0
1 

 (
28

02
 :

 R
es

o
lu

ti
o

n
 2

02
0-

10
-0

1 
- 

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 H
an

d
s-

F
re

e 
L

aw
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Board Appointments 

 

Item Number: 6.A 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Donna Stewart, Visitor Center Director 

 Dismal Swamp Welcome Center 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Tourism Development Authority 

 

Attachments: Tourism Development Authority (PDF) 

 
Summary: 

It is the request of the Tourism Development Authority that Shaun Zywicki be appointed to 

fulfill Donald Doughman's term which is set to expire April 2022. 

Recommendation: 

Approval. 

6.A

Packet Pg. 51



6.A.a

Packet Pg. 52

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

o
u

ri
sm

 D
ev

el
o

p
m

en
t 

A
u

th
o

ri
ty

  (
27

98
 :

 T
o

u
ri

sm
 D

ev
el

o
p

m
en

t 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.A 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   BOC Meeting Minutes - September 8, 2020 

 

Attachments: bocminutes_090820 (DOCX) 

 

7.A

Packet Pg. 53



1 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

Closed Session – 6:00 PM 

Regular Meeting – 7:00 PM 

Historic Courtroom - Camden, North Carolina 

 

MINUTES 

The regular meeting of the Camden County Board of Commissioners was held on September 8, 2020 in the Historic 

Courtroom, Camden, North Carolina.   

 

WELCOME & CALL TO ORDER  

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Tom White at 6:00 PM.  Also Present: Vice Chairman Clayton Riggs, 

Commissioners Garry Meiggs and Randy Krainiak.  Absent: Commissioner Ross Munro. 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

Motion to go into Closed Session to discuss Economic Development. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Motion to come out of Closed Session. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

The Board of Commissioners recessed the meeting at 6:20 PM. 

 

At 7:00 PM Chairman White reconvened the Regular Meeting of the Board of Commissioners.  State Representative 

Ed Goodwin was in attendance and was recognized by Chairman White. 

 

INVOCATION & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioner Randy Krainiak gave the invocation and led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

ITEM 1.  PUBLIC COMMENTS          

 

Penny Royal, on behalf of Sanders Crossing Subdivision, addressed the Board.  It is the request of the Sanders 

Crossing Subdivision community that the County assist them in getting the roads in the subdivision up to a standard 

that will be accepted into the NCDOT State Maintained Secondary Road System. 

 

ITEM 2.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURE STATEMENT     

 

Clerk to the Board Karen Davis read the Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement. 

 

 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 54

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



2 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

ITEM 3.  CONSIDERATION OF THE AGENDA        

 

The agenda was amended to add as Item 7.J. – Set Public Hearing for Sale of Property located within the Camden 

County Commerce Park. 

 

Motion to approve the agenda as amended. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

ITEM 4.  PRESENTATIONS          

 

A. Camden Tourism Development Authority – Donna Stewart 

 

Camden TDA Director Donna Stewart announced the 2nd Annual Camden TDA Photo Contest to take place October 

1, 2020 – November 1, 2020.  This year’s contest is sponsored by Towne Bank.   

 

B. Broadband Update – Eastern Shore Communications 

 

Ronald van Geijn of Eastern Shore Communications included the following in his report: 

• As of Friday, September 4, 2020 ESC had received all but one of the necessary permits from NCDOT to 

continue its work. 

• Next Steps – ESC will begin to build fiber from the area of the convenience site in South Mills at 17 & 343 

into Camden and then north to 158 and continuing along 343 across the railroad tracks – approximately 26 

miles of fiber.   

• The materials needed for this portion of the project have been ordered and most of it is now in port and 

what has been received is in ESC’s warehouse. 

• The work of drilling under the railroad tracks is set to begin in about two weeks. 

• The remaining permit to be obtained is for work to be done along Route 17/ Future I-87.  ESC is working 

with the local division of the Department of Transportation to complete the application process 

requirements. 

 

Several Commissioners expressed concern that the underserved and unserved households have an opportunity to 

connect as well.   

 

South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors 

 

Chairman White recessed the meeting of the Board of Commissioners and called to order the South Camden Water 

& Sewer District Board of Directors Meeting. 

 

Public Comments – None 

 

Consideration of the Agenda 

 

Motion to approve the agenda as presented. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 55

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



3 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

New Business 

 

A. Monthly Report – David Credle 

 

 
 

 
 

Motion to approve the monthly report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Consent Agenda 

 

A. Bellwether Meter Reading Services 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 56

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



4 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

 
 

B. Surplus Property 

 

Requested by:  David Credle / Public Works 

Item:    2008 Chevy 2500 Pickup 4x4 with Service Bed; 245,222 miles 

Reason for Surplus:  High mileage; replaced. 

Suggested Value:  $2,000 

 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Motion to adjourn South Camden Water & Sewer Board of Directors. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Chairman White reconvened the Board of Commissioners. 

 

ITEM 5.  PUBLIC HEARINGS          

 

A. South Mills Landing – Dan Porter 

 

Motion to open the Public Hearing for South Mills Landing Development Agreement and Master Plan / 

Preliminary Plat. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



5 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Planning Director Dan Porter briefly described the project.   

 

South Mills Landing LLC is requesting Master Plan/Preliminary Plan approval for South Mills Landing Planned 

Development.  The development consists of 580 single-family and multi-family dwellings, commercial and 

recreational areas with club house, pool, and walking paths.  The subdivision is located within the South Mills Core 

Village area on the north and south sides of Main Street.  The phasing schedule anticipation is for build out within 6 

to 10 years. 

 

South Mills Water Association and South Camden Water & Sewer District have approved water and sewer capacity, 

respectively for Phase 1 of 129 units.  Water and sewer for additional Phases are in the Development Agreement.  

The Technical Review Committee inputs are varied and are included in packet. 

 

The existing Storm Water Model is complete and the post Storm Water Drainage Plan will require approval of the 

County storm water engineer.   

 

Upon approval of the preliminary plat, construction plans will be completed and require approval of staff and state 

and local technical agencies prior to beginning construction. 

 

The Planning Board voted to recommend approval on a 3-2 vote.   

 

   
 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



6 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

   
 

 
 

Applicant Mark Bissell of Bissell Professional Group addressed the board and included the following in his 

presentation: 

• Key Elements of the Plan 

➢ Objective and Master Plan of Development 

➢ Phasing Plan 

➢ Utilities & Drainage 

➢ Summary of Zoning Commitments 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 59

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



7 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

➢ Compatibility & Consistency 

➢ Economic Impact 

• TRC Review – Concerns Addressed 

➢ Added bus stop signs and shelters to plan 

➢ Phasing/Spreading out development to address school capacity 

➢ Systems will be flood-proofed; fees will more than pay for expansion to address sewer capacity 

and design 

➢ Horseshoe Road to be improved/reworked; drainage to be improved 

➢ Looping water system to address fire protection 

➢ Development will provide additional funds to address Sheriff’s Office funding 

➢ Street names to be updated and approved 

• Neighborhood Meeting – Concerns Addressed 

➢ Modeling; storage and controlled release; downstream improvements to address stormwater issues 

➢ Connecting to County system; providing funds for expansion to address wastewater concerns 

➢ New line under canal; looping for flow & pressure; impact fees will address water concerns 

➢ Creating positive impact on the County Budget to address school concerns 

➢ Commercial Development will not take place until sufficient population is in place 

➢ Price range of homes – Expect $240,000+ 

➢ TIA completed; road improvements will be made accordingly to address traffic concerns 

• Terms & Conditions 

 

Mr. Porter reviewed portions of the Development Agreement and the Development Schedule Fiscal Years and 

Capacities. 

 

   
 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



8 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

   
 

   
 

   

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



9 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

 

   
 

   
 

   

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



10 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

 

   
 

   

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



11 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

 
Public Comments 

 

Due to attendance restrictions in regard to COVID-19, citizens were given the option to send comments via email.  

The following individuals sent comments via email, which were read aloud by the Clerk to the Board: 

 

Kristen Higens, Horseshoe Road – Opposed   

Summary of Concerns: 

• Schools / Buses / Bus Drivers 

• Post Office handling of mail/packages 

• South Mills Water issues 

• Internet availability 

• Impacts to Sheriff’s Office  

• Volunteer Fire Department / EMS  

• Flooding / Drainage  

• Increased traffic 

 

Crystal Creef, Main Street – Opposed  

Summary of Concerns: 

• Flooding / Drainage 

• Increased traffic 

• Water issues 

 

Mary Cherry Tirak, Chamberlain Road – Opposed  

Summary of Concerns: 

• Increased burden to Law Enforcement / Fire Department / County Administration / Waste Management / 

Water and Schools 

• Possible substantial taxation increases, increased crime and wildlife endangerment 

 

Michale & Lorraine Mizells, Horseshoe Road – Opposed  

Summary of Concerns: 

• Increased burden to schools, fire and rescue departments, Sheriff’s Office. 

• Drainage / Flooding 

• Loss of small community and rural feel of Camden County 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



12 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Christine & Walter Erb, Pier Landing – Opposed  

Summary of Concerns: 

• Adequate support of public services such as police, fire, EMS, schools. 

 

Nancy Farmer, Horseshoe Road – Opposed  

Summary of Concerns: 

• School capacity 

• Impact to Fire Protection and Sheriff’s Office 

• Increased Traffic 

• Flooding 

• Property taxes 

• Support of local small businesses 

• Loss of rural feel of the County 

 

Amy Gillikin – Opposed to South Mills Landing. 

Summary of Concerns: 

• Flooding 

• School capacity  

• Internet availability 

• Increased traffic 

 

Mike & Joy Benton, Old Swamp Road – Opposed  

Summary of Concerns: 

• Close proximity of homes to other homes 

• Volunteer Fire Department impact 

• Water and Sewer Capacity 

• Farmland protection 

 

Val & Vivian Bridgers – Opposed 

Summary of Concerns: 

• Added stress to Volunteer Fire Department and Sheriff’s Office 

• Flooding 

• School capacity 

• Future I-87  

 

The following comments were submitted by email to be included in the record. 

 

Rebecca Farmer of Horseshoe Road – Opposed 

Summary of Concerns: 

• Flooding 

• Traffic/Roads 

• Light Pollution 

• Mail Delivery 

• County Resources / Tax Increases 

• Loss of Rural Living 

• Crime 

• Strain on Local Small Businesses 

 

Deborah Penwell – Opposed 

Concern: 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



13 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

• Taxable business base not large enough to support additional needed county services. 

 

Additional Public Comments (in-person) 

 

Marshall Powell, Jr., Sawyer Creek Road – Opposed 

Concerns: 

• Flooding / Drainage 

 

Melissa Wright, Carolina Road – Opposed 

• Flooding / Drainage 

 

Herbert Mullen – Supported 

• Mr. Mullen spoke in favor of the development.  It is his opinion that it will be to the enhancement and 

betterment of the County and that new commercial development will also benefit the citizens. 

 

Mr. Bissell again addressed the Board to speak to the concerns that were raised during the public comment period. 

• Stormwater model analysis has been done and flooding and drainage issues will be addressed.  

Improvement of downstream drainage will also be offered.  The goal is to make it better than it is currently. 

• A new main water main under the canal will be put in to improve water pressure. 

• This project will revitalize the downtown area of South Mills. 

 

There being no further comments or questions, Chairman White to close the Public Hearing. 

 

Motion to close the Public Hearing. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Motion to table until the October meeting. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

ITEM 6.  NEW BUSINESS          

 

A. Tax Report – Ken Bowman 

 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



14 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

 
 

 
 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



15 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

 
 

30 Largest Unpaid – Real 

 
 

30 Oldest Unpaid - Real 

 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



16 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

30 Largest Unpaid – Personal 

 
 

30 Oldest Unpaid – Personal 

 
 

Motion to approve the tax report as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

B. Golf Cart Ordinance – Danson’s Grant HOA 

 

Chairman Tom White requested to be recused in that he is a resident of the Danson’s Grant Subdivision.  It is his 

request that Vice Chairman Clayton Riggs handle this item. 

 

Motion to recuse Chairman White from participating in the discussion and voting on this item. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



17 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Amber Stone-Aguirre, representing the Danson’s Grant HOA, addressed the Board to request that the subdivision be 

included in the Golf Cart Ordinance for the County to include the streets of Billetts Bridge Road and South Mill 

Dam Road.  Ms. Stone-Aguirre also expressed appreciation to the Board for its service to the community. 

 

Vice Chairman Riggs suggested that both sides of Billetts Bridge Road and South Mill Dam Road be included for all 

the residents whose property adjoin the subdivision.   

 

Motion to approve the amendment of Chapter 70 of the Camden County, NC Code of Ordinances to include 

Danson’s Grant Subdivision and both sides of Billet’s Bridge Road and South Mill Dam Road. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



18 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

C. Appeal of Demolition Orders (Hearing & Decision) – Keith Truman 

 

Motion to open the hearing for appeal of demolition orders. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

The Clerk to the Board administered the oath to the witnesses.   

 

Attorney Morrison: Mr. Chairman, I am requesting to be able to sit up here so I can… 

Chairman White: Yes, sir.  Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: Ladies and Gentlemen, this is what’s known as a quasi-judicial…this is known as a quasi-

judicial hearing.  This means that the Board of Commissioners sits as a court.  You can only base your decision on 

evidence that you hear tonight that is sworn or exhibits that you receive into evidence.  You cannot consider 

anything you’ve learned outside of this room.  If any of you think you have a conflict of interest or you know 

something about this matter that you cannot put out of your mind before tonight now is the time to come forward.  

All right.  It is very important that we have due process.  There are property rights that apply.  That means the 

testimony will be sworn.  I will elicit direct testimony from both.  I have to be very careful in avoiding conflict of 

interest.  I am the attorney to the Board; not to the Planning Department or the Building Department.  But to 

facilitate the information I’ve got it organized for them to present.  They’ll be permitted to testify to whoever they 

want but it must be relevant and it must be evidence that would normally be admissible in a court of law, with 

certain exceptions but we’re not quite that formal.  But I will advise you if that should become an issue.   

The commissioners have the right to ask questions, in additions to the questions that I’ve asked and the opposing 

party…Mr. Overton, you will have right to cross-examine anybody that testifies for the Planning Department and 

the Planning Department has the right to cross-examine you.  [To the Commissioners] You must deliberate on this.  

A majority vote one way or the other is sufficient, but your deliberations must be in public.  All right, everybody 

understand what we’re doing?   

Okay, I will begin with the Building Inspector.  You can have a seat if you want, Mr. Overton.  You get to go next.   

Gary Overton: I’ll sit down. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  The burden of proof is on the county.  They must convince you that they have met the 

obligations of your ordinance.  Mr. Overton does not have to prove anything.  You must be convinced that the 

evidence is here.  All right, with that said, Sir, would you give us your name please. 

Keith Truman: Keith Truman. 

Attorney Morrison: And Mr. Truman, what is your position with the County?   

Keith Truman: I was hired to be the County Code Enforcement Officer and also the Assistant Building Inspector. 

Attorney Morrison: And how long have you held that position? 

Keith Truman: It’ll be two years in October. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



19 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Attorney Morrison: And do you have any certifications relative to that job? 

Keith Truman: I have Level III Standard Inspection Certificates that are issued by the Department of Insurance with 

the State of North Carolina. 

Attorney Morrison: Now explain levels if you would to us please.  Level III, is that high or low? 

Keith Truman: Level III is the higher level. 

Attorney Morrison: And what are your certifications in? 

Keith Truman: Building, Plumbing, Electrical and Mechanical, which is the heating and air conditioning. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now, did you have to take any training and pass any tests in order to get those 

certifications?   

Keith Truman: Yes, you have to complete courses that are designed by Department of Insurance in Raleigh and pass 

the tests and have so many years of experience to move up through the Level I, II, and III.   

Attorney Morrison: And so you have obtained the highest level and you’ve passed all of the tests, is that correct? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Do you have any continuing educational requirements to maintain these certifications? 

Keith Truman: We have to do six hours of continuing ed in each trade every year, which is 24 hours a year.  They 

try to keep us up with the code changes, etc. 

Attorney Morrison: Now when you say each trade, you mean what you previously enunciated – building, fire, 

electrical, mechanical?   

Keith Truman: Building, plumbing, electrical and mechanical – six hours in each trade annually. 

Attorney Morrison: Now, prior to assuming this position, did you have any experience in construction of houses? 

Keith Truman: I’ve been either a building inspector or a contractor for the last 30+ years. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and were you a licensed general contractor at one time? 

Keith Truman: I was in North Carolina and Virginia.  I have my plumbing license and my electrical license also. 

Attorney Morrison: All right let’s move along then.  Are you familiar with the Camden County Ordinance 150.23? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And what is that relative to? 

Keith Truman: It’s actually 150.22 I believe. 

Attorney Morrison: Yeah excuse me, you’re right.  I’m on the wrong page.   

Keith Truman: It’s the process of procedure for violations.  If you have violations to the Minimum Housing 

Ordinance or to the Housing Ordinance, as it says, that’s a due process have the property repaired or brought up to 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



20 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

what it needs to be for proper living conditions and if you’re unsuccessful in that then it continues on, lays out the 

steps that must be completed to have a piece of property repaired or demolished.   

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now do you have copies of this code ordinance for the commissioners? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, this does not have to be introduced in evidence.  This is just for your convenience.  It’s 

part of our code already.  If you would give those to the Clerk to hand out and also be sure and give a copy to Mr. 

Overton.  All right, commissioners I would direct your attention to this statute, this 150.22.  That’s on page 25.  And 

let’s talk about paragraph A.  Now Mr. Truman, I see in paragraph A it says, “If the inspector declares a residential 

or nonresidential building or structure to be unsafe the inspector must affix a notice of the unsafe character of the 

structure to a conspicuous place on the exterior wall of the building.”  And then most important, it’s what I direct 

everyone’s attention to, the next sentence, “For the purposes of this section unsafe means dangerous to life because 

of liability to fire, bad conditions of walls, overloaded floors, defective construction, decay, unsafe wiring or heating 

system, inadequate means of egress or other causes.”  So that’s what we’re working with here, is that correct?   

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now do you know property owners in Camden County…one is a corporate citizen, 

Abode of Camden; A-b-o-d-e of Camden Inc. and Geraldine and Gary Overton. 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: When did you become involved with those two or those property owners? 

Keith Truman: After I was hired in October of 2018 I have had contact with them in starting this procedure again to 

complete the condemnation of these properties.  This was an ongoing thing before I started. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  What properties do they own that were of concern to you? 

Keith Truman: There’s three locations; one is 1275 NC 343 South.  It’s right before you get to Alder Branch Road; 

on the north end of Alder Branch.   

Attorney Morrison: And who owns that property? 

Keith Truman: That’s Abode of Camden, Inc.   

Attorney Morrison: All right, continue.  What is the next property? 

Keith Truman: There’s two houses – 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road. 

Attorney Morrison: And who do they belong to? 

Keith Truman: Mrs. Overton. 

Attorney Morrison: That’s Geraldine Overton? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And then are there any other properties? 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



21 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Keith Truman: There’s a 1330 NC 343 South, which is actually between Alder Branch north end and Alder Branch 

south end.  There’s a farm property there and some warehouses.   

Attorney Morrison: And who does that belong to? 

Keith Truman: Geraldine Overton. 

Attorney Morrison: Now so we’re talking about 1275 NC 343, 1330 343 South, 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road.  

We’re talking about four properties.  Is that correct? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Now did you examine these properties in the course of your duty? 

Keith Truman: I have.  I have not been inside the structures.   

Attorney Morrison: Did you examine these properties as a result of complaints from the community? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now is it true that Camden County, because we’re small and we have a small 

Planning Department and Code Enforcement, that we are primarily complaint driven on examinations like this? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: That’s correct, all right.  So tell me with regard to each property how recently you examined it 

and what you saw at the time of your examination. 

Keith Truman: Initially started this year, in April of this year, and went to the properties and looked at the outside 

condition of the buildings, the way they’re supported and not supported; the condition of water entering the 

buildings and the damage that water does when it enters buildings and any failures that there may be; any temporary 

support of these structures; and just thinking about what their condition’s going to continue to deteriorate to be. 

Attorney Morrison: And was this examination personal?  You went to the properties? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: But you said you could not go inside of some of them, is that correct? 

Keith Truman: I have not been inside.  I’ve looked in the doorway of one that has no door on it. 

Attorney Morrison: All right. 

Keith Truman: 165 I believe Alder Branch.  I have not been inside the other buildings. 

Attorney Morrison: As to all the properties, I believe you formed the same opinion and so I going to ask you, 

keeping in mind the definition I previously read from our ordinance as to what is unsafe meaning dangerous to life 

because of liability to fire, bad conditions of walls, overloaded floors, defective construction, decay, unsafe wiring 

or heating system, inadequate means of egress or other causes, did you form an opinion as to whether or not based 

on that, these properties were unsafe?   

Keith Truman: Yes. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



22 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Attorney Morrison: What was that opinion? 

Keith Truman: That they would continue to deteriorate and possibly fall on a surrounding property or necessarily if 

somebody was around the property that shouldn’t be that there could be a problem with somebody getting hurt if 

you had children trying to get inside the properties or is this property being used for illegal drugs; things of that 

nature that would be a hazard to the community and to anybody who might be up there that doesn’t need to be up 

there. 

Attorney Morrison: I specifically ask you did you form an opinion as whether these properties were in a state of 

decay? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And what was that opinion? 

Keith Truman: The ones that are having a problem with water coming in them and the others that are structurally 

starting to fail because they have not been supported properly or the framing was not completed property at the 

times that they were…construction began, or that have failed because they were not supported properly on a 

permanent foundation at the time that they were located there. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now did you, as a result of that, take any action in terms of posting?   

Keith Truman: Yes, I posted a ‘Condemned Building: Keep Out by Order of the Camden County Building 

Inspector’ notice on all four of the properties. 

Attorney Morrison: Now you’re holding a document in your hand.  Is that what you posted? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: May I see that please? 

Chairman White: Mr. Morrison, can we take a five-minute recess just for a second? 

Attorney Morrison: Sure. 

Chairman White: Is that allowed? 

Attorney Morrison: Yes. 

Chairman White: So five minutes.   

[Five-minute recess] 

Chairman White: Okay, we’re going to resume our meeting. 

Attorney Morrison: All right Mr. Truman, when we left you had a placard you were showing us. 

Keith Truman: Yes, this is just an example of the placard that the County uses to post on property if they’re trying to 

do something with that property if it’s been condemned, it’s unsafe, etc. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now under our ordinance are you required to affix a notice of condemnation when you 

find a premises in these conditions? 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



23 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Keith Truman: Yes, when we start the process I’m required to post that notice and send an accompanying letter, both 

regular mail and… 

Attorney Morrison: All right well before we get to the letter, I would draw the Commissioners’ attention, and Mr. 

Overton’s attention, to 150.22, paragraph A.  “If the inspector declares a residential or nonresidential building or a 

structure to be unsafe, the inspector must affix a notice.”  All right so and is your testimony you did that? 

Keith Truman: Yes, I have. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now can I see that placard, please?  All right now as this is printed, is this the standard 

that the County uses? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: I think you’ll want to introduce this into evidence.  Where is Mr. Overton.  Madam Clerk, this 

needs to be marked as an Exhibit and I would show the commissioners.  I believe Mr. Truman is offering to 

introduce that into evidence, Mr. Chairman.  The Board must either accept that as evidence or not.   

Chairman White: Does the Board accept that as evidence?  Yes, we do. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, the Inspector’s Exhibit I then.  All right now let’s go to…these properties, did you 

form an opinion as to how old they were; the structures?   

Keith Truman: At least 40 years to 50 years minimum.  Not sure about the ones at 1330.  But the tax card on 165 & 

167 goes back…I don’t have that in front of me but at least 40 years old.  And the house that’s at 1275 that used to 

be where Hardee’s is easily is that old. 

Attorney Morrison: Were any of these structures occupied? 

Keith Truman: No sir, not to my knowledge. 

Attorney Morrison: To your knowledge since they have been on the Abode of Camden property and on the Overton 

property, have they ever been occupied? 

Keith Truman: Not that I’m aware of.  Bear in mind I’ve been here almost two years but… 

Attorney Morrison: Did you do an investigation to learn the source of where these properties came from; the 

structures? 

Keith Truman: As I said, the one at 1275, it’s my understanding and I’ve been told it used to sit on the corner where 

Hardee’s restaurant now is. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay. 

Keith Truman: And the three beach cottages that are at 1330… 

Attorney Morrison: Now wait a minute, you’re saying beach cottages.  We haven’t talked about beach cottages.  Are 

the other properties beach cottages?   

Keith Truman: The ones on Alder Branch I don’t believe are, I’m not sure.  They’ve been there a long time and I 

don’t know the history of them.  I don’t know if they were built on the site or if they were located to that property.  

I’m not aware of… 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



24 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Attorney Morrison: All right where were the beach cottages and why do you say they’re beach cottages? 

Keith Truman: I’ve been told that the three structures at 1330 343 South were beach cottages that were relocated 

from the beach, I’m assuming Nags Head area, to that area where they presently sit. 

Attorney Morrison: All right there are three structures on 1330 343 South.  Is that correct? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And on 165 & 167 Alder Branch how many structures are there? 

Keith Truman: There’s one house on each lot. 

Attorney Morrison: So that’s two.  All right on 1275 NC 343 South how many structures are there? 

Keith Truman: There’s one house there. 

Attorney Morrison: All right so they’ve got a total of six structures? 

Keith Truman: Yes.  

Attorney Morrison: Okay, all right.  Now did you take photographs of these structures? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Do you have those with you? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and do these photographs accurately depict the structures? 

Keith Truman: I don’t have a good picture of the 1275 one.  The others, yes.   

Attorney Morrison: All right, can you give me those photographs, please? 

Keith Truman: I know they have them already. 

Attorney Morrison: They’re in your packet? 

Commissioner Riggs: They’re in these packets. 

Attorney Morrison: They’re in your package but they’re not in evidence.  I believe Mr. Truman is now offering 

these photographs into evidence.  We’ll need a ruling if the Board is going to accept it. 

Chairman White: The Board accepts the pictures as evidence that he’s presented?  Yes, we accept it. 

Attorney Morrison: Thank you.  Madam Clerk, for your file on this, you’ll need to get those pictures out of the 

packet and enter them collectively as Building Department’s Exhibits II, I believe.  All right now will you describe 

those…what you saw with regard to each or those structures that led you to conclude it was unsafe and make 

reference to what the commissioners have in their packet. 

Keith Truman: The one that says 1330 NC Highway 343 South, that’s the beach cottages.  It has the cedar siding 

type.  The last page is dated April 17, 2020.  That’s two of the beach cottages.  This is the one I’m looking at if 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



25 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

you’re not sure what I'm talking about.  That shows two of the beach cottages.  They have been there since they 

were moved there a long time ago is my understanding.  You can see the second one in the background behind the 

one up at the highway is failing in some way.  Either the shoring that hasn’t shored up or the actual framing of the 

structure is failing and is dropped and is laying on the ground.  The other one was better supported when it was put 

there.  It appears to be in a little better condition.  That one is very close to the street driveway.  And there’s a third 

one that’s north of these two that is grown up to where you can’t hardly see it.  I could not get up to that structure to 

examine it in any way.  There’s a rental house in this same picture, you can see the handrails coming down.  I 

believe it’s a rental house.  There’s one big piece of property there on both sides of the road and I'm guessing that 

that house is a rental house.  It’s very close to the one that’s collapsing and falling on the ground.  I don’t know who 

lives there, I have seen cars there.  The structures are very close to where people are inhabiting and living.   

The other one would be the 165 & 167 Alder Branch, two individual houses.  There’s a school bus in one of the 

pictures.  It shows the two houses.  These are the oldest ones of the bunch, I believe, in my opinion.  Don’t know 

that to be exactly true.  But if you look carefully at the top of the picture at the top of the houses you can see where 

the ridgeline is starting to sag in the middle and more than likely that’s being caused because the front and rear 

exterior walls are probably separating and pushing out.  Not sure why that’s happening other than just deterioration 

and it was…the work was never completed to finish these houses to make them livable and they are deteriorating as 

such.  They’re both in similar condition.  The one on the bottom fixture by the school bus, their door is open.  You 

can see inside to the kitchen area there I believe it is?  The ceilings are falling in, a lot of growth of weeds, etc. 

inside the building.   

The other picture is the probably located at 1275 NC 343 South, which is right across…a little bit to the north of 

where Alder Branch runs into 343 South, just north.  That’s the house that was moved from where Hardee’s is to 

where it is now.  It still is being supported by the steel I-beams that it was moved on I believe.  There is no 

foundation of any kind.  It’s been sitting there all this time.  On the east side of the house, which is towards the road, 

on the one corner section…maybe a fifth of the front of the house, if that much, the shingles and tar paper have 

blown off and every time it rains, water is going into the garage area and possibly into the house part.  I don’t know 

that because I have not been inside.  But the rain is going to deteriorate the rafters and the ceiling joists and it’s 

already working on the ceiling board in the garage.  It’s going to continue to deteriorate.  The walls are tongue-and-

groove, probably yellow pine boards.  I believe it was a brick house.  I don’t know that, my gut is telling me that.  

And probably when the brick was removed the wood is exposed to the moisture and there’s probably insulation in 

the walls which may be getting wet, depending on if rainwater is getting through those boards into the insulation.  

Well then you have new problems starting if that is happening.  And that’s basically the three properties. 

Attorney Morrison: Now the photographs also show where you affixed the condemnation notice, do they not?   

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  All right now after you affixed that notice, and I would direct the Board’s attention to 

again 150.22, C.  This requires immediately upon affixing the notice upon the structure, the inspector shall send 

notice in writing by certified or registered mail to the owner of and parties in interest in the structure of the unsafe 

character of the structure and requests the owner to take prompt corrective action to repair, alter and improve the 

dwelling.  Did you do that? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And when did you do that? 

Keith Truman: The first letter was sent on April 21st.  That was sent by first-class mail. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



26 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Attorney Morrison: And what was the date that you posted the property? 

Keith Truman: The same day. 

Attorney Morrison: All right do you have copies of that correspondence? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: The first one.  Is this in your packet? 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  And you would want to introduce it into evidence, correspondence from the County 

under the date of April 21, 2020 and Madam Clerk this will be Inspector’s Exhibit III, okay. 

Chairman White: Okay does the Board have any opposition with entering that letter as evidence? 

Keith Truman: There’s three of those. 

Chairman White: Okay, no opposition.   

Keith Truman: Three different properties. 

Attorney Morrison: Three different properties.  Well let’s do all of them together.  There’s three of the properties so 

you sent one for each of the properties? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: When you say properties you mean tracts of land, not structures. 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  So that would be April 21, 2020.  There’s one for Geraldine Overton for 1330 NC 

Highway 343 South, Shiloh.  There’s one to Abode of Camden for 1275 NC Highway 343 South and another to 

Geraldine Overton, 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road.  All of them are dated April 21st. 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And were these sent by registered certified mail with return receipt? 

Keith Truman: Yes, as well as first class. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  So I think we’ll do these instead of three separate exhibits, Madam Clerk, these will be 

collectively one exhibit.   

Keith Truman: Here’s the second and third one also. 

Attorney Morrison: After you did this…and what was the purpose of sending these letters? 

Keith Truman: It’s primarily a notice of violation to let the property owner know that there is a problem with their 

property and they need to do something for it.   

Attorney Morrison: Is it specified where the problem is?   

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



27 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Keith Truman: 30 days…the Camden County Building Inspector has determined the unsafe character of your 

building is as follows: decay, bad conditions of walls, is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy or 

danger to children. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, I'm just trying to make certain that we followed or that you followed Section C, which 

it’s your testimony that you did.  Okay now after sending this notice, did you get any response from either Mr. 

Overton or Abode or from Ms. Geraldine Overton? 

Keith Truman: Yes, I talked to Mr. Overton on the phone.  I'm not sure if it was that day or the next day.  He just 

called to…I guess just to let me know that he was aware of it.  We talked briefly. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay and did he commit to make any repairs?   

Keith Truman: Not at that time, no sir. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  What about Ms. Overton, did you ever hear from her? 

Keith Truman: I had not talked to her at that time, no. 

Attorney Morrison: And Mr. Overton is the registered agent for the Abode of Camden.  Is that correct?   

Keith Truman: He’s Ms. Overton’s son.  I'm not sure of the… 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  But you sent it to him as Abode of Camden.  (talking)  Wait a minute, you can’t have 

conversation.   

Keith Truman: I sent 1275 to Abode of Camden, which is a corporation.  And I sent the other two to Ms. Geraldine 

Overton.  

Attorney Morrison: How did you get the address for Abode of Camden? 

Keith Truman: Off the tax card. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  That’s good.  Now so the only person you heard from was Mr. Gary Overton, right? 

Keith Truman: Correct. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And you had given everybody 30 days to bring this property into compliance, correct? 

Keith Truman: Yes, as stated in the letter they had 30 days. 

Attorney Morrison: All right what happened after the expiration of 30 days?   

Keith Truman: Following the procedure that’s laid out in our Chapter 150, I mailed a second letter which was called 

a Notice of Hearing. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, do you have that and is that in the Commissioners’ packets? 

Keith Truman: Yes, that’s the second page. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and how many of those letters did you mail? 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



28 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Keith Truman: To each of the three properties, I mailed one letter first class and also one letter registered mail with 

return receipt. 

Attorney Morrison: To each property? 

Keith Truman: To each property. 

Attorney Morrison: So you served them both by registered mail and by regular United States mail. 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  And that was entitled Notice of Hearing? 

Keith Truman: Notice of Hearing and it listed the address on each property on each letter; three separate letters. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and that would be in compliance with Section D, would it not?  If the owner fails to 

make prompt corrective action within 30 days, the inspector shall by certified or registered mail to the last known 

address give written notice, and then on to the next page, that the building or structure is in a condition that appears 

to meet one or more of the following conditions: constitutes a fire or safe hazard, is dangerous to life, health or other 

property, is likely to cause or contribute to blight, disease, vagrancy or danger to children, has a tendency to attract 

persons intent on criminal activities, or other activities that would constitute a public nuisance.  Did you do that? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now Madam Clerk, we would introduce that, I believe the inspector will collectively 

all of those.  This would be Exhibit IV.  Is that correct? 

Clerk: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Do you receive those? 

Chairman White: Yes, we did.  Anyone have any objection entering that as evidence?  No objections. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now did you in fact subsequently conduct a hearing as specified in your notice? 

Keith Truman: We did and it took place July 30 or was it July 1?   

Attorney Morrison: Whatever is specified in the notice I think.  What does the notice say? 

Keith Truman: A hearing will be held in front of the Camden County Building Inspector on June 1, 2020.  So we 

had the hearing that day. 

Attorney Morrison: All right who attended the hearing? 

Keith Truman: Mr. Gary Overton and Ms. Geraldine Overton and myself and Dan Porter. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and at that hearing did you lay out what you contended needed to be done and why you 

had found the property to be unsafe pursuant to the ordinance? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And what response did either of the Overtons make? 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



29 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Keith Truman: They were in the process of trying to alleviate some of the problems.  The one property I believe on 

1275, someone was interested in buying that whole piece of property.  I'm not sure how many acres it is, maybe 10 

acres or something.  Not sure if he was going to fix the house up.  That wasn’t clear.  And he didn’t know for sure if 

he was going to be able to sell it and that he wanted to…would like to fix up the other houses and do something with 

them. It seemed to me that the finances was a challenge to accomplish that.  And that was primarily what we 

discussed. 

Attorney Morrison: All right after that, did you then make a ruling?   

Keith Truman: We did.  I issued them a third letter.  It’s an Order to Demolish and proper disposal of the two single 

family dwellings at 165 & 167 and then also the same for the other properties in question at 1275 and then also at 

1330.   

Attorney Morrison: All right and is that order also in the Commissioners’ packets? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And did you send that by…as to each property by registered mail and by regular 

United States postage prepaid?   

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: And you sent it to the addresses that you previously did? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now did you also advise these folks that they have the right to appeal to the Board of 

Commissioners where we are tonight?   

Keith Truman: Yes, at that same meeting. 

Attorney Morrison: All right and did they in fact note an appeal within that 10-day parameter? 

Keith Truman: It’s my understanding that they contacted the Clerk I believe on the 10th day, I'm not sure. 

Attorney Morrison: All right so there’s no contention that they didn’t meet the deadline for this appeal. 

Keith Truman: Not that I'm aware of. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, sir.  Have you changed your opinion in any way since you issued that order? 

Keith Truman: No. 

Attorney Morrison: Has anything happened to the properties since that order? 

Keith Truman: No, I’ve been by them, all of them, several different times and nothing has changed.   

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Now tell the commissioners why you think the property needs to be demolished. 

That’s a pretty big remedy. 

Keith Truman: From a financial standpoint, the likelihood of being able to make the repairs needed to the properties 

just is…probably would not be feasible in the condition and the age that they are.  They’re just too far gone. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



30 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Attorney Morrison: And did you form that opinion in part based upon your experiences as a general contractor? 

Keith Truman: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  All right, now is there anything further you would like to testify about? 

Keith Truman: No. 

Attorney Morrison: At this point Commissioners, you may ask Mr. Truman questions if you have any. 

Chairman White: Any of the Commissioners have any questions?   

Vice Chairman Riggs: Did Mr. Truman ascertain how long those buildings had been sitting on the property with no 

one in them? 

Attorney Morrison: I believe he said for a lengthy period of time.  He has only been here two years.  But I’ll let him 

readdress it.  I believe you did testify that some of them had been sitting there for decades. 

Keith Truman: Dan Porter said they were there when he started for the County, which was approximately 2003, 

2004.  They have changed in that time. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.   

Chairman White: Any other questions? 

Commissioner Krainiak: Mr. Chairman. 

Chairman White: Yes, sir. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Has there been any children on that property that you know of? 

Keith Truman: Not that I'm aware of, unless…I don’t know who lives in the house. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Has there been any reports of vagrancy on that property? 

Keith Truman: No, sir. 

Commissioner Krainiak: And no sickness or disease on that property? 

Keith Truman: I'm sorry? 

Commissioner Krainiak: Have you noticed any…it says disease, blight…disease, vagrancy, danger to children. 

Keith Truman: No.  Dangerous to children if they were to try to get inside the property.  One the one property 

there’s no door; it’s not there.  Anybody could climb inside of there. 

Commissioner Krainiak: And did you notice any reports from the Sheriff’s Department if they’ve had problems with 

children or any problems with anybody being hurt on that property in the last few years it’s been sitting there? 

Keith Truman: Not that I'm aware of. 

Chairman White: Any other questions? 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



31 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Attorney Morrison: All right, Mr. Overton, at this time you may ask Mr. Truman questions, not make a statement.  

But if you have questions of him you may do so at this time.  And if you would come up please to the microphone.   

Gary Overton: I would just like to ask you, these… 

Attorney Morrison: Wait a minute.  You have to stand there, you have to answer questions. 

Gary Overton: He’s made the statement about the outside of the buildings but he has not looked at the inside of the 

buildings. 

Attorney Morrison: All right well you can’t make the statement, you can ask.  I think he said he had not gone inside. 

Gary Overton: Okay, that’s what I want to ascertain; he has not been inside the building. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  Do you have… 

Gary Overton: I have some pictures of evidence.  I have no way of… 

Attorney Morrison: We’ll tend to that.  But you’ll get to put on your case in just a moment.  Right now is your 

opportunity to cross-examine him.  Do you have any other questions you would like to ask him? 

Gary Overton: Okay.  Have you done any figures on what it would actually cost to fix these houses?  You made a 

statement that the economics would be too great.  Have you actually figured that out?  That’s…you’ve got to figure 

paper and pen before you actually make that kind of statement.  I have done the figures.   

Attorney Morrison: You can’t make a statement, just ask questions.  Your question to him was has he done a 

computation, okay.   

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Keith Truman: Without examining the insides of any of the properties I don’t know the extent of what would have to 

be done in order for it to be a viable house for someone to live in.   

Gary Overton: So you’re making a statement that you…it being cost prohibitive without doing a comprehensive 

study of the whole place.   

Keith Truman: In the condition that I see the houses in from the outside, I don’t see where anyone would take on 

that venture in my opinion. 

Gary Overton: Is it true that the outside not always tells the story of the inside?  I know lots of houses… 

Vice Chairman Riggs: I'm not hearing… 

Attorney Morrison: Just a moment…The question was to the effect is it true that the outside of a house does not 

always tell the condition of the inside of the house and therefore the whole value of what would have to be done.  Is 

that correct? 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, you may answer that question now. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



32 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Keith Truman: As I said, I have not gone inside the home so I have no way to base the exact amount it would take to 

make the house livable; the conditions of the insides of the house.  The ones on Alder Branch apparently has 

structural problems and the ones at 1330, the one that is failing and falling on the ground is bound to structural 

problems of some type just because of the twist and the bind it’s in.   

Gary Overton: So you’re making a statement of recommendation to demolish without a full assessment inside and 

out of the structure.  Is that what you’re saying? 

Keith Truman: Possibly, yes. 

Gary Overton: Thank you. 

Attorney Morrison: Any other questions, sir? 

Gary Overton: No. 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  And the Commissioners have no further questions based on that? 

Chairman White: Any further questions?   

Attorney Morrison: All right you may have a seat, Mr. Truman.  Now Mr. Overton, if you would come up, sir.  Mr. 

Overton, you heard my explanation.  I'm actually the attorney to the Board; not to the Building Inspector. 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: But I'm asking these questions not because I have an opinion one way or the other, but because 

this is what I do for a living and I can move the evidence along.  If you do not wish me to ask you questions, I will 

not.  I'm not going to cross-examine you.  I'm just going to try to get the basic evidence out with fewer contentions.  

So it is your option.  You may answer my questions of you may make a presentation on your own. 

Gary Overton: Can I retain that right on each individual question? 

Attorney Morrison: Yes, sir. 

Gary Overton: Okay.   

Attorney Morrison: For the record, give us your name please sir. 

Gary Overton: Gary Wayne Overton. 

Attorney Morrison: And Mr. Overton, what is your relationship to Geraldine Overton?   

Gary Overton: She’s my mother. 

Attorney Morrison: And are you familiar with the property that’s been discussed here and is in fact owned by the 

Abode of Camden and the other…I believe it was your father’s estate that your mother inherited?  Is that correct? 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  All right are you familiar with the conditions of this property? 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



33 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  How long have these properties been there, do you know; these structures? 

Gary Overton: We’ve been moving houses since 1984, well before the ordinances.  And some of them have been 

there from pretty near the beginning.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  

Gary Overton: I don’t have an exact age on all of them.  The only one that’s even close would be 1275 that was 

moved from Hardee’s and ya’ll have the records on that.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay and that was before Hardee’s was actually built and that was about 5, 6 years ago? 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

Attorney Morrison: And that would be the youngest one. 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  And that was an older house before…it was a store, was it not? 

Gary Overton: It was a house. 

Attorney Morrison: No?  It was a house.  Excuse me, okay.  And do you know approximately how old that house 

was at the time you moved it? 

Gary Overton: The best estimate we made was about 1959 because it was a great uncle of mine. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay, all right.  Now the question obviously would arise why you move properties, I mean 

structures, to these properties and I believe it’s because you do this for a living.  Is that correct? 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay, so this is part of how you would earn your income. 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now you heard Mr. Truman testify as to the condition he found these properties.  What 

is your opinion?  Do you agree or disagree with what he said? 

Gary Overton: I disagree. 

Attorney Morrison: All right tell us specifically and could you go property by property? 

Gary Overton: Okay.  1275, I’ve got pictures completely inside.  She had no way of taking them off my phone and 

putting them on the screen so ya’ll could see.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay, let’s do this.  Madam Clerk is there a way…what we’ve got to do, Mr. Overton , is we 

have to make a record because either side’s got the right of appealing this.  Do you have some way you can text 

these to the clerk and then she make a file out of them? 

Gary Overton: I can text her, possibly email. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



34 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Attorney Morrison: All right.  If you would do that, it’s very important because otherwise it’s not going to be in the 

record and I don’t know if there’s going to be an appeal beyond this or not.  But like I told you, this is kind of like a 

court.  Okay so if you will promise that you will text these pictures you may now…Mr. Chairman, if the Board 

would permit he can step up and if you all could kind of gather around and he can show you the pictures and explain 

to you what they are. 

Chairman White: You can just have the Madam Clerk bring it forward or whatever you know. 

Attorney Morrison: Well I think he’s got them on his phone. 

Chairman White: Okay. 

Attorney Morrison: All right now Mr. Truman, you also have the right to be up here and look at these pictures as 

they are shown.  Okay so you can step up right there in the well and if everybody would kind of gather around and 

take a look at it.  All right you’ve got to speak up so everybody can hear you, including Mr. Truman. 

Gary Overton: All right, this is the 1330 properties, beach houses.  They are knotty pine paneling inside.  And I just 

want to show the condition of them.  Yes they’ve got some trash and stuff but that come from the beach that way.  

But they’re in good condition overall.  That’s bed slats.  I don’t see where these houses are all that…this house here 

is 1275.  It come from right over here.  And I'm not seeing the structural issues or even you know you’ve got a little 

bit of paint peeling right there.  But we’ve got carpet, we’ve got fresh paint.  It’s not that bad inside.  I'm not sure 

where we’re seeing the house is about to fall in at.  So you’re talking about me destroying a lot of money here.  I’d 

really like to put them on the tax rolls, as well as ya’ll and rent them out.  There’s people begging for houses every 

day.  I'm looking for an investor.  The last one I talked to is full of projects and it’s just a matter of time.  We need to 

turn this around and make it happen but I don’t see where these need to be torn down.  I can’t tell you I'm going to 

start on them tomorrow because I’ve got to find an investor.  This is what these houses look like inside.  Can 

everybody see pretty good?  You know that’s just…that’s the end of what I’ve got right there.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay now in order for us to make that part of the record you’re going to have to text that to the 

clerk so get that information from her.  All right sir, now is there anything I haven’t asked you that you would like to 

tell the Board to put into evidence.  Do you have any other exhibits or photographs or any other statements you want 

to make?   

Gary Overton: That’s the big thing right there; that they’re not in as bad condition as what they’re being made out to 

be.  Yes, they look a little bit rough on some of the siding and some of the exterior things, but that’s part of fixing 

them up and getting them squared away.  And like I say, I have people begging for me to fix them up and rent them 

to them.  I’ve just got to find a financier.  Since my dad passed I’ve taken on a lot, a lot of responsibility.  I’ve got all 

this, plus I have a job that right now I'm working six and seven days a week, 12 hours a day.  It’s just a lot for one 

person to do.  I can’t give you a timeline and say they’re going to be done tomorrow because I’ve got ten of them all 

together actually and it’s just…it’s a lot to do.  If I get someone to come in, a private investor, yeah my target…I’d 

love to have one every six months; possibly speed up quicker after I get rolling with them.  But I’ve got to find the 

money man.   

Attorney Morrison: All right sir, anything else you would like to say?   

Gary Overton: That’s about it.  I just…please give me your consideration in this.  I know it’s been a while since Dad 

passed but I'm working diligently all I can and work with me the best you can. Let’s get them on the tax rolls and get 

some income coming in for everybody.   

Attorney Morrison: Anything else, sir? 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



35 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Gary Overton: That’s it, thank you. 

Attorney Morrison: Thank you very much.  Now just a moment please.  Mr. Truman, you may cross-examine.  You 

do not have to, but if you have any questions about his testimony you may ask. 

Keith Truman: Basically… 

Attorney Morrison: Come forward please, sir. 

Chairman White: Yeah you’ll need to come to the microphone. 

Attorney Morrison: Yeah and this is your opportunity to ask him questions; so only questions at this point. 

Keith Truman: Looking at the pictures that we all looked at, I mean obviously like the one at 1275 appears to be in 

fairly good condition.  It’s hard to tell from the picture.  My question would be what I see through the doorway at 

165 Alder Branch you know is not a good scenario.  And I also would question the… 

Attorney Morrison: You’re making a statement.  Do you have a question?  You’ll get to make a statement in a 

minute.  But do you have a question? 

Keith Truman: My question would be what do the houses look like at 165 & 167 on the inside?  And then also what 

does the house look like that’s sitting down on the ground sideways where it’s settled?  I’d be curious to see what 

those looked like in comparison to your pictures of the other two. 

Gary Overton: The one with the knotty pine was one of those three.  There is one floor joist on that corner.  We have 

put together houses in a whole lot worst shape.  Dad and I jacked houses back together and put them together.  It’s 

one floor joist on that corner.  --- holds it up. 

Attorney Morrison: All right sir, do you have any other questions? 

Keith Truman: No. 

Attorney Morrison: All right, thank you.  Mr. Overton, you may have your seat now.  It is now under procedure 

since the County has the burden of proof, they get to offer rebuttal evidence, which they may or may not have.  Now 

Mr. Truman at this point you can, if you have it, but you’re not required, to offer any testimony or any documents to 

contradict anything he said.  You can’t go into a new topic but if you have anything regarding his testimony that you 

want to contradict by testimony or exhibits you can do it.  That’s call rebuttal.  Do you have any such rebuttal? 

Keith Truman: No, not other than the questions I just asked.   

Attorney Morrison: All right, fine.  Then the evidentiary is concluded.  If you would please, Commissioners, let’s go 

to…if you’ll go to page 26 of the ordinance, paragraph H: The Board of Commissioners shall hear their appeal 

within a reasonable time, which you have done.  The Notice of Hearing shall be sent to the owner in writing 

certified or registered and posted on the outside of the structure in question.  That was done.  The hearing 

conducted shall be quasi-judicial.  We have met that standard.  The Board of Commissioners…all right, so this is 

where we are now.  The Board of Commissioners may affirm, that means you can uphold what the Building 

Inspector did, modify and affirm, that would mean okay, I'm going to affirm that the County takes action but I'm 

going to do something different than what you did, or you can revoke the Inspector’s order.  You can no, we’re not 

going to do anything.  Okay, so those are your options and that is what is before you now.  And at this point you can 

discuss it and you can deliberate on it but the deliberations must be in public.  If you wanted to recess, you can do 

that but you can’t talk about it amongst yourselves.  So I assume you want to go ahead and do it tonight.   

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



36 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Chairman White: Does anybody want to ask any questions of Mr. Truman or Mr. Overton?  Does anybody want to 

deliberate and discuss it? 

Commissioner Krainiak: I want to ask Mr. Overton one question. 

Chairman White: Otherwise we can close this hearing. 

Commissioner Krainiak: I want to ask Mr. Overton one question. 

Chairman White: Sure. 

Attorney Morrison: You’re still under oath. 

Gary Overton: Okay. 

Commissioner Krainiak: The back page of these pictures shows that the two houses…the school bus and the other 

one. 

Gary Overton: Yes, sir. 

Commissioner Krainiak: From this picture it doesn’t look like it’s salvageable. 

Gary Overton: It is. 

Commissioner Krainiak: It is? 

Gary Overton: I know exactly why the roof is doing that.  It was doing that day one, when he brought it in.  It’s a 

very simple fix.  I could probably fix it in about a day, day and a half worth of labor.  It’s very simple.  

Commissioner Krainiak: Okay.  From this picture it doesn’t look too good. 

Gary Overton: No, it doesn’t, it doesn’t.  It’s covered in vines. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Because I was thinking the other ones look like…the ones you showed me pictures of, it 

looked like they were salvageable houses; still functioning, you just put them someplace. 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Commissioner Krainiak: And I know what you’re talking about; moving houses and stuff like that.  I'm familiar with 

that, as well.  But the other ones look like they’re goners.  So if you were to say you were going to take those houses 

down, I think that would be a good step forward.  But if you think they’re salvageable the question is… 

Gary Overton: Yes.  

Commissioner Krainiak: …my question is…I know you’re looking for an investor but we need to know when.   

Gary Overton: I'm talking with Mr. Chuck Hodge out in Arizona.  He’s a friend of Mr. Randy Williams.  I know 

ya’ll are familiar with…people local here are familiar with Mr. Randy Williams, now lives at the beach.  He said 

he’d come before ya’ll and beg for some time.  He didn’t give me a timeframe.  He’s got all his money tied up right 

now but he’s willing to work with me and either invest himself or find a friend of his to invest.  That’s not saying 

100% that’s going to happen because we’re people and talks may break down amongst anybody.  But I feel like I 

got a good start and I have another option, someone that might be interested.   

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



37 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Commissioner Krainiak: That’s all I have. 

Chairman White: Anyone else have any questions they’d like to ask?  Okay if not, do we have a motion to close the 

hearing?   

Motion to close the hearing. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Chairman White: We’re now out of public hearing.  So now we need to take each property separately and the first 

one is 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road in Shiloh.  So we either need to affirm, deny or modify. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Mr. Chairman. 

Chairman White: Yes, sir. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: I would like the attorney to clarify the modify.  If we were to modify the order and say that he 

has a certain period of time to make a measurable improvement… 

Attorney Morrison: You’ll need to define measurable improvement. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Right.  Like I mean you say… 

Attorney Morrison: Yes, you’ve got great latitude. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Right.  You can say we’re going to give you 90 days to make this building waterproof and 

not covered in vines.  That’s two measurable pieces.  That was an example of the one that’s covered in vines.  If you 

remove the vines and make it waterproof in a period of time that’s a measurable…that’s what I'm talking about 

when I say a measurable improvement.   

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  Yeah, you could do that.  I would think if you want to do that you would also want to 

have it inspected to come back before you and the property would have been inspected by Mr. Truman and Mr. 

Truman would give a report of what he finds. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Well I don’t have the same opinion of all of the property but I did with his…one of them he 

had pictures. 

Attorney Morrison: The Chairman is doing this correctly.  You’re going property by property.  So you can do that.  

Vice Chairman Riggs: So we can modify on any one of them.  As we go through them one by one we can modify 

one. 

Attorney Morrison: You could do something like this, Commissioner Riggs.  I think this is what you meant.  Okay, 

we’re going to uphold the demolition order of the inspector unless within 90 days or thereabouts as set by the Board, 

but not sooner than 90 days, you can come in and show us proof that you’ve done A, B, C, D.  And that will be 

confirmed by the Building Inspector.  And if you can’t do that, then the demolition order will stand.  If that’s what 

you’re thinking about that’s the kind of thing that you have the option to do. 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



38 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Commissioner Krainiak: Mr. Chairman… 

Chairman White: So the first one we’re talking about is the 165 & 167 Alder Branch Road.   

Commissioner Krainiak: He knows…Mr. Overton knows his budget, knows what he can do.  I would like to suggest 

that we give him 30 days to come up with a plan of which ones he can start improving on first and complete first.  

And then you know if he says that one house can be completed with $2000 or $20,000 or whatever it may be, 

complete the job.  And let him come up with a plan that says this house will be completed by this; this house will be 

completed by this and this and this.  You know because we…if we start putting the little constraints on each of those 

pieces of property we don’t know what his budget is going to be.  Like he did say he was working 12 hours a day 

just to maintain a business his daddy… 

Chairman White: Okay we’re just discussing right now.   

Attorney Morrison: All right discussing options.  Let me put my lawyer hat back on.  It would be something like this 

I think that…you’re going to uphold the demolition order unless within 30 days he comes back with a plan, a written 

plan, containing like how much it’s going to cost and when he’s going to start construction and so forth, on each of 

these properties or whatever properties you tell him to.  And if he doesn’t come back with that plan that meets your 

satisfaction then the demolition order will stand.   

Commissioner Krainiak: That sounds fair and just. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay.  All right but you can do it as to all properties or you can do it as to individual properties.  

You can go ahead and say the order stands as to this or it doesn’t stand as to any of them or we’re going to modify it 

and do something like Commissioner Krainiak is talking on all of them or one of them or however you want to do it. 

Chairman White: Okay.  What is your pleasure?  Right now we’re talking about 165 & 167 Alder Branch.   

Attorney Morrison: Maybe the best way to do it, is there any property that the Commissioners think they want to 

revoke the demolition order period?   

Vice Chairman Riggs: The only one that I'm sitting here right this moment considering would be the 1275. 

Chairman White: That’s the one that’s in the better shape; pictures. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: That’s the newest-moved piece of property. 

Attorney Morrison: Now what you can do is…and I don’t have any opinion what the rest of you feel, but you could 

move to revoke the demolition order as to that property, okay, and then that’s off the table and we’re not dealing 

with that anymore. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: So the way you worded it, we’re going to stand with the demolition order unless he can come 

back with a plan of execution and a timeline in which it can done in a safe and productive manner. 

Attorney Morrison: In your discretion.  It’s got to be presented to you that you would approve that.  But what I am 

suggesting is there may be a property which you don’t think anything needs to be done to it right now.  Again, I 

have no opinion.  If there is a property that you don’t think bears demolition under any circumstances, now is the 

time to go ahead and identify that and take it off the table.  If on the other hand, you think all of them are subject to 

demolition then the plan we’re talking about would be for all the properties.  You need to address each property 

specifically or say all.   

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



39 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Chairman White: Okay.   

Vice Chairman Riggs: I'm waiting on ya’ll. 

Commissioner Krainiak: I’d rather just put a stay on it and give it a 30-day plan and see what he can start 

contributing to get it complete. 

Attorney Morrison: But that would be as to all properties, right; all structures? 

Commissioner Krainiak: All the properties, and you’re talking about 30 days.   

Attorney Morrison: All right then this is what I think is what the Commissioner’s motion would be; you are going to 

amend the revocation order, modify it, that the demolition will stand unless within 30 days…or we need to give him 

a date specific, but we’ll pick a date that we’ll meet.  He comes back with a specific plan of what he’s going to do to 

the property to make it safe, that’s the definition, with a budget and a timeline as to when that construction will be 

completed satisfactory to the Commissioners. 

Commissioner Krainiak: Correct. 

Attorney Morrison: Okay, and that would be with regard to all properties.  And if he does not do that and he does 

not satisfy you in 30 days then the demolition will proceed.  Is that what you want to do?   

Commissioner Krainiak: Sounds fair.  I make that motion.  Whatever all that he just said, I make that motion.   

Chairman White: Randy has made a motion basically that… 

Commissioner Krainiak: That was a mouthful. 

Chairman White: …that the demolition will not take place but within 30 days he’s got to come back with a written 

plan and basically state how he’s going to make these properties safe… 

Attorney Morrison: I think we need to specific, Mr. Chairman, that he will come back to a Board of Commissioners 

meeting; that we’re going to recess the deliberation, then he has to come back on a time and date certain. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: Our next meeting is on the 5th.   

Chairman White: I’d put it in November because the 5th is not really 30 days.   

Attorney Morrison: All right so you can put it to November 5th.  That’s give him the better part of 60 days.   

Chairman White: Which gives you more than 30 days.  So… 

Attorney Morrison: November 2nd, okay. 

Vice Chairman Riggs: The 2nd of November.   

Attorney Morrison: The 2nd of November, 7:00.  And he’s got to…so he doesn’t have to have the repairs made so 

therefore the inspector doesn’t need to go out and confirm anything.  But he’s got to come back and…Mr. Overton, 

as I understand this motion, you’re going to need in writing this is what I'm going to do to each one of these 

properties.  You’re going to need to say this is the budget that it will take to do this and you’ve got to say I can have 

it done by this time.   

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



40 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Chairman White: Yeah I’d say a timeframe you know.  It needs to be realistic.   

Attorney Morrison: Then the Commissioners can agree to that, and if you carry that out there will be no demolition.  

But if the Commissioners do not agree to what you come in with, the demolition will take place forthwith, correct? 

Chairman White: Correct.  Everybody understand the motion?   

Attorney Morrison: Do you understand that, sir? 

Gary Overton: Yes. 

Chairman White: Any discussion?  And this is on all properties so can we lump it together? 

Attorney Morrison: All properties.  And if you don’t come back with anything then the properties are going to be 

demolished.  Okay. 

Chairman White: So we have the motion.  All in favor of the motion say aye.   

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Randy Krainiak 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

ITEM 7.  CONSENT AGENDA          

 

A. BOC Meeting Minutes – August 3, 2020 

 

B. Closed Session Minutes 

 

C. Budget Amendments 

 

   
 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



41 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

D. DMV Monthly Report 

 

 
 

 

 

 

E. Tax Collection Report 

 
 

 

 

 

 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



42 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

F. Vehicle Refunds Over $100 

 

 
 

G. Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 

 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



43 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

H. Authorization for CARES Act Disbursements 

 

 
 

I. Resolution 2020-09-04 NCDOT Request 

 

 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



44 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

J. Set Public Hearing - Set Public Hearing for Sale of Property located within the Camden County Commerce 

Park. 

 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda as presented. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Clayton Riggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

ITEM 8.  COUNTY MANAGER’S REPORT        

County Manager Ken Bowman included the following in his report: 

• A COVID-19 test site was established at the New Sawyer’s Creek Baptist Church on August 24th.  

Approximately 60 people participated. 

• CARES Act Funding – To date over 70 small businesses in Camden County have participated and 

submitted applications for grant funding.  Over $100k has been disbursed to these small businesses.  The 

next phase of the program will soon be implemented which focuses on upgrades and improvements within 

the departments, schools and partnerships.  Appreciation to Alexandra Lekki for her excellent work in 

meeting with the local business owners and getting the word out about this program. 

• Met with Dr. Ferrell on August 20th to visit Grandy Primary School to get a firsthand look of what they are 

experiencing with the new normal.  It is a challenge for the teachers and the students as all as the parents.   

• Ashley Jennings has completed the certification program for Deputy Register of Deeds through the NC 

Association of Registers of Deeds.  Ashley is now a Certified Deputy Register of Deeds.  Congratulations! 

• The Governor has moved the State into Phase 2.5, which has allowed Parks and Recreation to reopen our 

playgrounds. 

• Camden County has the lowest unemployment rate in the State for the month of July at 6.1%. 

• The application requesting LGC approval of issuance of the proposed bond for $33m for the high school 

was formally approved by the LGC on September 1, 2020. 

 

ITEM 9.  COMMISSIONERS’ REPORTS         

None. 

 
ITEM 10.  INFORMATION, REPORTS & MINUTES FROM OTHER AGENCIES    

The following was provided for information purposes: 

 

A. Library Report 

B. Register of Deeds Report 

 

ITEM 11.  OTHER MATTERS          

None. 

 
ITEM 12.  ADJOURN           

 

There being no further matters for discussion Chairman White called for a motion to adjourn. 

 

 

 

 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



45 

 

 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 

September 8, 2020 

 

Motion to adjourn. 

RESULT: PASSED [4-0] 

MOVER: Garry Meiggs 

AYES: White, Krainiak, Riggs, Meiggs 

ABSENT: Munro 

 

Chairman White adjourned the meeting at 10:00 PM. 

 
       ATTEST: 

 

             

Tom White, Chairman     Karen M. Davis 

Camden County Board of Commissioners   Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

7.A.a

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 b

o
cm

in
u

te
s_

09
08

20
  (

27
97

 :
 B

O
C

 M
ee

ti
n

g
 M

in
u

te
s 

- 
S

ep
te

m
b

er
 8

, 2
02

0)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.B 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Stephanie Jackson, HR Director 

 Finance 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Budget Amendments 

 

Attachments: Budget Amendments (PDF) 

 

7.B

Packet Pg. 99



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

28
03

 :
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



7.B.a

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
  (

28
03

 :
 B

u
d

g
et

 A
m

en
d

m
en

ts
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.C 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   DMV Monthly Report 

 

Attachments: DMV Monthly Report Nov, 2020 Ren (PDF) 

 

Summary:   DMV Monthly Report November, 2020 Renewals Due 12/15/2020 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

7.C

Packet Pg. 102



7.C.a

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

M
V

 M
o

n
th

ly
 R

ep
o

rt
 N

o
v,

 2
02

0 
R

en
  (

27
95

 :
 D

M
V

 M
o

n
th

ly
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.D 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Tax Collection Report 

 

Attachments: Tax Collection Report (PDF) 

 

7.D

Packet Pg. 104



7.D.a

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 T

ax
 C

o
lle

ct
io

n
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

27
90

 :
 T

ax
 C

o
lle

ct
io

n
 R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.E 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: Vehicle August Refunds Over $100.00 (PDF) 

 

Summary:  Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00 August, 2020  

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

7.E

Packet Pg. 106



7.E.a

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 V

eh
ic

le
 A

u
g

u
st

 R
ef

u
n

d
s 

O
ve

r 
$1

00
.0

0 
 (

27
93

 :
 V

eh
ic

le
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

.0
0)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.F 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Teri Smith, 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Teri Smith 

 
Item Title   Refunds Over $100.00 

 

Attachments: August Refunds Over $100.00 (PDF) 

 

Summary:   Refunds Over $100.00 August, 2020 

 

Recommendation:   Review and Approve 

7.F

Packet Pg. 108



7.F.a

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

u
g

u
st

 R
ef

u
n

d
s 

O
ve

r 
$1

00
.0

0 
 (

27
94

 :
 R

ef
u

n
d

s 
O

ve
r 

$1
00

.0
0)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.G 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Pickups, Releases & Refunds 

 

Attachments: Pickups, Releases & Refunds (PDF) 

 

7.G

Packet Pg. 110



7.G.a

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ic
ku

p
s,

 R
el

ea
se

s 
&

 R
ef

u
n

d
s 

 (
28

10
 :

 P
ic

ku
p

s,
 R

el
ea

se
s 

&
 R

ef
u

n
d

s)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.H 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Kevin Jones, 

 Sheriff 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Surplus Property Request 

 

Attachments: Surplus Property (PDF) 

 

7.H

Packet Pg. 112



7.H.a

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

28
00

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
t)



7.H.a

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

28
00

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
t)



7.H.a

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

28
00

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
t)



7.H.a

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

28
00

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
t)



7.H.a

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
  (

28
00

 :
 S

u
rp

lu
s 

P
ro

p
er

ty
 R

eq
u

es
t)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.I 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Lisa Anderson, Tax Administrator 

 Taxes 

 Prepared by: Lisa Anderson 

 
Item Title   Order for the Collection of 2020 Taxes 

 

Attachments: order to collect taxes (DOCX) 

 

Summary:  Order for the collection of 2020 taxes 

 

Recommendation:  Review and approve. 

7.I

Packet Pg. 118



 
NORTH CAROLINA           ORDER OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
CAMDEN COUNTY                  IN ACCORDANCE WITH G.S. 105-321 
                        FOR THE COLLECTION OF 
                    2020 TAXES 
 
 
 
 
 

 
TO:  THE TAX ADMINISTRATOR OF CAMDEN COUNTY 

 
 
You are hereby authorized, empowered and commanded to collect the taxes set forth in the 2020 tax 
records filed in the office of the Camden County Tax Administrator, and in the tax receipts herewith 
delivered to you in the amounts and from the taxpayers likewise therein set forth.  You are further 
authorized, empowered and commanded to collect the 2020 taxes charged and assessed as provided by 
law for adjustments, changes and additions to the tax records and tax receipts delivered to you which 
are made in accordance with law.  Such taxes are hereby declared to be a first lien on all real property of 
the respective taxpayers in Camden County, and this order shall be a full and sufficient authority to 
direct, require and enable you to levy on and sell any real or personal property of such taxpayers, for 
and on account thereof, in accordance with law. 
 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal, this 5th day of October, 2020. 
 
 
 
 
        ________________________________ _  
                                                                                                      Chairman 
                                        Camden County Board of Commissioners 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:   
 
 
_________________________________ 
Clerk 
Camden County Board of Commissioners 
             
                            

7.I.a

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 o

rd
er

 t
o

 c
o

lle
ct

 t
ax

es
  (

28
09

 :
 O

rd
er

 f
o

r 
th

e 
C

o
lle

ct
io

n
 o

f 
20

20
 T

ax
es

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.J 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Ken Bowman, 

 Administration 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   ABC Funds Report FY 2019-2020 

 

Attachments: ABC Funds Report for FY 19-20 Camden (DOCX) 

 

7.J

Packet Pg. 120



ABC Funds Report for FY 19-20 

County: Camden 

Amount of ABC Funds Received $_5,684.16 

ABC Funds Restrictions per County Allocation: None 

Per GS 18B-805(h) since Trillium Health Resources received Alcoholism (ABC) 

Funds from your county, we are required to provide an annual report to the 

board of county commissioners describing how the funds were spent. Please find 

below to a brief description of the expenditures that were paid from July 1, 2019 

to June 30, 2020. 

Purchase of Naloxone Kits: Trillium purchased and distributed in Camden County 

20 Naloxone kits at $1500.00 to Camden County Manager. 

Access Point Kiosk – The Kiosk provides anonymous evidence-based self-

conducted screenings for mental health and substance use to potentially link 

individuals to appropriate services. The annual cost is $1181.00 for these kiosk 

per year. 

*Substance Abuse Treatment Services: $ 137,889 was paid for 41 individuals from 

your county to providers for substance abuse treatment. 

These Substance abuse treatment expenditures were spent for the treatment of 

alcoholism or substance abuse. These funds were paid to providers who 

contracted with Trillium to provide substance abuse treatment to consumers with 

an address in your county. Services provided include but are not limited to the 

below:  

• Assessment/evaluation 

• Outpatient treatment and counseling, including face to face and 

telepsychiatry and both individual and group 

• Mobile Crisis 

• Substance Abuse Intensive Outpatient Therapy 

• Facility Based Crisis 

• Opioid Treatment 

 

7.J.a

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

B
C

 F
u

n
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 1
9-

20
 C

am
d

en
  (

27
96

 :
 A

B
C

 F
u

n
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

Y
 2

01
9-

20
20

)



*Denotes State and ABC funds paid for services for consumers residing in Camden 

County with substance abuse diagnosis. This does NOT include Medicaid funds 

paid for the same. 

 

 

 

 

7.J.a

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

B
C

 F
u

n
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
 f

o
r 

F
Y

 1
9-

20
 C

am
d

en
  (

27
96

 :
 A

B
C

 F
u

n
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
 F

Y
 2

01
9-

20
20

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.K 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Karen Davis, Clerk to the Board 

 Board of Commissioners 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Proclamation - Domestic Violence Awareness Month 

 

Attachments: Domestic Violence Awareness Month Proclamation

 (DOCX) 

 
Summary: 

It is the request of Albemarle Hopeline that the Board of Commissioners adopt the attached 

Proclamation, designating October 2020 as Domestic Violence Awareness Month in Camden 

County. 

Recommendation: 

Adopt Proclamation. 

7.K

Packet Pg. 123



 

 
PROCLAMATION FOR DOMESTIC VIOLENCE  

AWARENESS MONTH 
 

OCTOBER 2020 

 
 

WHEREAS, domestic violence includes not only physical abuse, but also mental abuse, 

emotional abuse, financial abuse, isolation, and sexual violence; and 

 

WHEREAS, intimate partner violence accounts for 15% of all violent crime; and 

 

WHEREAS, 1 in 4 women and 1 in 9 men experience severe intimate partner physical violence, 

sexual violence, or stalking; and  

 

WHEREAS, according to the North Carolina Coalition Against Domestic Violence, there were 

57 homicides attributed to domestic violence in North Carolina in 2019, and 44 to date already in 

2020; and 

 

WHEREAS, the County of Camden recognizes the significant impact of domestic violence on 

individuals, families, children, schools, and workplaces in our community; and 

 

WHEREAS, by working together, we can raise awareness and break the cycle of violence in 

order to build communities that are safe for everyone; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Camden County Board of Commissioners 

do hereby proclaim October, 2020 as “DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AWARENESS MONTH”, and 

commend its observance to all citizens. 

 

This, the 5th day of October 2020. 

 

       ATTEST: 

 

             

Tom White, Chairman    Karen M. Davis 

Camden County Board of Commissioners  Clerk to the Board of Commissioners 

 
 

7.K.a

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

o
m

es
ti

c 
V

io
le

n
ce

 A
w

ar
en

es
s 

M
o

n
th

 P
ro

cl
am

at
io

n
  (

28
11

 :
 P

ro
cl

am
at

io
n

 -
 D

o
m

es
ti

c 
V

io
le

n
ce

 A
w

ar
en

es
s 

M
o

n
th

)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Consent Agenda 

 

Item Number: 7.L 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Dan Porter, Planning Director 

 Planning & Zoning 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Set Public Hearing - Rezoning Application 

 

Attachments: 913Hwy343_AgendaSummaryBOC20201005

 (DOCX) 

20201005_913HWY343S_RezoningFinding

 (DOCX) 

Application (PDF) 

NeighborhoodMeetingResults (PDF) 

PrincipleUseTableComparison (PDF) 

Deed (PDF) 

 

Find attached summary, supporting documentation and recommendation. 

7.L

Packet Pg. 125



Camden County Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

        

Meeting Date:   October 5, 2020 

 

Attachments:    913 Hwy 343 South - Staff Findings 

 

Submitted By: Planning Department  

 

Item Title:  Rezoning Request Richard Krainiak 

 

Summary: 

 

Richard Krainiak has requested to rezone approximately 3 acres for Village Commercial to 

Neighborhood Residential.  The property is located at 913 Hwy 343 South in the Shiloh Core Village.  

The Neighborhood meeting was held on August 31, 2020.  The Planning Board on September 16, 2020 

voted to approve the rezoning request on a 5-0 vote. 

 

The requested zoning change is inconsistent with both the CAMA and Comprehensive Future Land Use 

Maps that reflect the land as Community Core and Village Center. 

 

 

Recommendation:  Set Public Hearing for November 2, 2020 

 

7.L.a

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 9

13
H

w
y3

43
_A

g
en

d
aS

u
m

m
ar

yB
O

C
20

20
10

05
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

 

 

 

STAFF REPORT 

 

UDO 2020-09-14 

 Zoning Map Amendment  
 

 

PROJECT INFORMATION 

 

 

File Reference: UDO 2020-09-14 

Project Name:           N/A 

PIN:    03-8953-04-80-2636 

 

Applicant:                 Richard  Krainiak 

Address:  103 Camellia Drive 

                        Camden, NC 27921 

 Phone:  252-333-0787 

 Email:  rickykrainiak@yahoo.com 

 

Agent for Applicant:  Self  

 Address:             

 Phone:    

 Fax:   

 Email:     

 

Current Owner of Record:  Applicant 

 

Meeting Dates: 

8/31/2020 Neighborhood Meeting 

9/16/2020 Planning Board Approved 5-0 

 Application Received: 9/10/2020 

By:  Amber Curling, Planning 

 

Application Fee paid:  $650.00 Ck# 2156 

 

Completeness of Application:  Application is 

generally complete 

 

Documents received upon filing of application 

or otherwise included: 

A. Rezoning Application  

B. Deed 

C. GIS Aerial, Current zoning, Comprehensive 

Plan Future Land Use and CAMA Land Use 

Plan Suitability Maps 

D. Neighborhood Meeting Comments 

E. Zoning Comparison  RR and NR 

 

 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

REQUEST:  Rezone approximately 3 acres from Village Commercial (VC) to Neighborhood 

Residential (NR) on Parcel 03-8953-04-80-2636 located at 913 Hwy 343 South in the Shiloh Township. 

  

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

 

From Village Commercial (VC) Article 151.3.6.3 (Purpose Statement) 

 

The Village Commercial district intended to foster high quality, compact, pedestrian-oriented 

development on lots within designated village centers. Development in the VC district is human-scaled 

and designed to promote visual interest for pedestrians. Ground-level retail and personal services that 

promote pedestrian activity along the street are highly encouraged and large, monolithic, automobile-

oriented developments are prohibited. New development in the district is located close to the street, 

provides passers-by with clear views into the building’s ground floor, and fosters sidewalk dining, 

outdoor seating, and interaction among pedestrians. The district requires urban-style open space (greens, 

seating areas, plazas, pocket parks, roof gardens, etc.) to be included as a part of new development. In 

addition to commercial uses, the district allows a variety of moderate-density residential development. 

New commercial, mixed-use, and multi-family developments in the district are subject to the design 

standards in.  

  

To:   Neighborhood Residential (NR) – Article 151.3.5.5 (Purpose Statement)  

 

 The Neighborhood Residential (NR) district serves as a transition district from the rural and suburban 

portions of the County to areas proximate to village centers and major commercial corridors.  The 

district is intended to accommodate single-family detached homes in a neighborhood setting at moderate 

densities.  Mobile and manufactured homes on individual lots, conservation subdivisions, and 

agricultural uses are limited in order to preserve the district’s neighborhood character.  Manufactured 

homes are not allowed on lots within 5,280 linear feet of a village center boundary.  The district’s 

40,000-square-foot minimum lot area may be reduced when lots are within one mile of a designated 

village center boundary and served by public sewer.  District regulations discourage uses that interfere 

with the development of residential neighborhoods or that are detrimental to the district’s single-family 

detached neighborhood character.

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

  

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

PROJECT LOCATION:  Vicinity Map:  Shiloh Township

 

1 Mile Buffer 

Shiloh Core Village 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

Zoning Map: 

 
 

Working Lands 
Neighborhood 

Residential 

Village 

Commercial 

Rural 

Residential 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

CAMA Land Suitability:

 

Very High Land Suitability 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

Wetlands Map              Floodplain Map                     Watershed Map  

 

Not in Wetlands, Floodplain or Watershed 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

Drainage;  Black arrows show apparent water flow 

 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map 

 

Rural 

Preservation 

Rural Residential 1 to 2 acre 

Village Center 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

CAMA Future Land Use Map 

 

Low Density Residential 

On 1-2 acres or greater 

Medium Density Residential 

Community 

Core 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

 
  

Water lines on Hwy 343 and Milltown 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

 
 

SITE DATA 

 

Lot size:   Approximately 3 acres.                          

Flood Zone:   X 

Zoning District(s):  Village Commercial (VC) 

Existing Land Uses:  Vacant- House and Farmland 

 

Adjacent Zoning & Uses: 

 North South  East West 

Zoning Village Commercial 

(VC) 

Rural Residential 

(RR) 

Village 

Commercial (VC 

Rural/Neighborhood 

Residential 

(RR/NR) 

Use & size Commercial Business/ 

Residential 

Residential Lots Commercial 

Business  

Residential 

Lots/Farmland 

 

 

Proposed Use(s) - Subdivide one acre with the house and continue to farm Residual. 

 

Description/History of property:  Property is located in Shiloh Core Village on Hwy 343.   Property 

has been farmed and house has been vacant.         

Dollar General 

Hwy 343 

Shiloh SC 

 

3 acres - house 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

      

 

ENVIRONMENTAL  ASSESSMENT 

 

Streams, Creeks, Major Ditches:     

Distance & description of nearest outfall:    It appears the property drains to the ditch on the south 

west side in farm field.  The flow continues approximately 3300 feet  thru farm field ditches south east, 

south west, south east again into wetlands. The wetlands flow to Pasquotank River. 

 

INFRASTRUCTURE & COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

 

Water Water lines are located adjacent to property along Highway 343 and 

Milltown Road. 

 

Sewer              Not available. 

 

Fire District   Shiloh Fire District. 

 

Schools   Proposed zoning will have minimal impact on Schools.    

 

Traffic   Proposed zoning will have minimal impact on Traffic 

 

  

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

PLANS CONSISTENCY 

 

CAMA Land Use Plan Policies & Objectives: 

 

 Consistent ☐  Inconsistent ☒ 

 

The CAMA Land Use Plan was adopted by the Camden County Board of Commissioners on April 4, 

2005.  The proposed zoning change is inconsistent in that the Future Land Use Maps has property 

identified as.  Community Core. 

 

2035 Comprehensive Plan 

 

 Consistent ☐  Inconsistent ☒ 

   

While the current Rural Residential Zoning requires a minimum of two acres, the proposed zoning 

change is consistent as the County’s Comprehensive Plan (Adopted 2012) as the Future Land Use Map 

shows the property to be Village Center.   

 

Comprehensive Transportation Plan  

 

 Consistent ☒  Inconsistent ☐ 

 

 Property abuts Hwy 343 South and Milltown Road. 

 

 Other Plans officially adopted by the Board of Commissioners 

 

 N/A 

 

 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

FINDINGS REGARDING ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS: 

 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☐ 

  

 

 

 

Will the proposed zoning change enhance the public health, safety or 

welfare? 

 

Reasoning:  The Parcel is intended to be part of Village Center  

 

 

Is the entire range of permitted uses in the requested classification 

more appropriate than the range of uses in the existing classification? 

 

Reasoning:  The Core Village is intended for Commercial Use  

 

For proposals to re-zone to non-residential districts along major 

arterial roads:    

 

 

 

Is this an expansion of an adjacent zoning district of the same 

classification?  N/A 

 

Reasoning:     

 

What extraordinary showing of public need or demand is met by this 

application? N/A 

 

Reasoning:  

  

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☒ No ☐ 

 

 

 

 

 

Will the request, as proposed cause serious noise, odors, light, activity, 

or unusual disturbances? 

 

 

Reasoning:  All uses permitted in the requested zoning classification 

should not cause any serious noise, odors, light activity, or unusual 

disturbances. 

 

 

Does the request impact any CAMA Areas of Environmental 

Concern? 

 

 

Reasoning:  Property is outside any CAMA Areas of Environmental 

Concern. 

 

 

Does the county need more land in the zoning class requested? 

 

 

Reasoning:    In the appropriate location, this would include the 1 mile 

buffer adjacent to the Shiloh Core Village.  This parcel is within the 

Shiloh Community Core Village Area. 

 

 

Is there other land in the county that would be more appropriate for 

the proposed uses? 

 

 

Reasoning:   Moderate density residential development areas would 

enhance the area adjacent to the Shiloh Village Center.  

  

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Yes ☐ No ☒ 

Will exceed the county’s ability to provide public facilities: 

 

The proposed zoning will have minor impact on all public facilities, it is 

only 3 acres. 

 

Schools Projected students maximum 1.956 (3 x 0.6521) and minimum 

student 1.304 (2 x 0.6521) 

 

Fire and Rescue – Minimal impact. 

 

Law Enforcement – Minimal impact. 

 

Parks & Recreation – Minimal impact. 

 

Traffic Circulation or Parking – Minimal impact. 

 

Other County Facilities – Minimal impact. 

 

 

 

Is This A Small Scale “Spot” Rezoning Request Requiring Evaluation 

Of Community Benefits?

 

If Yes (regarding small scale spot rezoning) – Applicants Reasoning: 

 

 

 Personal Benefits/Impact Community Benefits/Impact 
 

With rezoning 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Without rezoning 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

STAFF COMMENTARY:    

 

The applicant seeks to subdivide the three acre parcel and the house becomes a residential home.   The 

property being in the Core Village is Commercial not moderate density residential development area 

adjacent to.  The property is located in an area that is not supported by either the CAMA or 

Comprehensive Plans Future Land Use Maps as residential development. 

 

 

 

Consistency statement:    

 

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



` 

The requested zoning change is not consistent with either the CAMA or the Comprehensive Future Land 

Use Maps that reflect a Village Center and Community Core area. 

 

 

Recommendation: 

 

Planning Staff recommends denial the Rezoning Application (UDO 2020- 09-03) of 913 Hwy 343 South 

from Village Commercial (VC) to Neighborhood Residential (NR). 

 

 

 

  

7.L.b

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

02
01

00
5_

91
3H

W
Y

34
3S

_R
ez

o
n

in
g

F
in

d
in

g
  (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



7.L.c

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.c

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.d

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 N

ei
g

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
M

ee
ti

n
g

R
es

u
lt

s 
 (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



7.L.d

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 N

ei
g

h
b

o
rh

o
o

d
M

ee
ti

n
g

R
es

u
lt

s 
 (

27
99

 :
 S

et
 P

u
b

lic
 H

ea
ri

n
g

 -
 R

ez
o

n
in

g
 A

p
p

lic
at

io
n

)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 159

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 160

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 161

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.e

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ri
n

ci
p

le
U

se
T

ab
le

C
o

m
p

ar
is

o
n

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 163

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 164

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 165

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 166

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 167

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 168

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 169

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 170

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 171

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 172

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 173

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



7.L.f

Packet Pg. 174

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ee
d

  (
27

99
 :

 S
et

 P
u

b
lic

 H
ea

ri
n

g
 -

 R
ez

o
n

in
g

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 10.A 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Tammie Krauss, Register of Deeds 

 Register of Deeds 

 Prepared by: Karen Davis 

 
Item Title   Register of Deeds Report 

 

Attachments: Register of Deeds Report (PDF) 

 

10.A

Packet Pg. 175



10.A.a

Packet Pg. 176

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

01
 :

 R
eg

is
te

r 
o

f 
D

ee
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



10.A.a

Packet Pg. 177

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

eg
is

te
r 

o
f 

D
ee

d
s 

R
ep

o
rt

  (
28

01
 :

 R
eg

is
te

r 
o

f 
D

ee
d

s 
R

ep
o

rt
)



 

Board of Commissioners 

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY SHEET 

 
Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies 

 

Item Number: 10.B 

Meeting Date:   October 05, 2020 

 

Submitted By: Kim Perry, 

 Library 

 Prepared by: Kim Perry 

 
Item Title   Library Report 

 

Attachments: 20-08 (DOCX) 

 

10.B

Packet Pg. 178



Camden County Public Library 

AUGUST 2020 Statistics 
Library Closed August 1-31 due to COVID-19 

 

Visitor Count 0 

Materials Check Outs & Renewals 1,129 

Computer/ Wireless Use (wireless use stat not currently valid, 

estimate provided) 
0/144 

Questions Answered 141 

Children’s Programs/Attendance 0/0 

Adult Programs/Attendance 0/0 

Outreach Programs/Attendance 0/0 

Meeting Room Usage/Attendance 3/16 

Days/Hours Open 0/0 

# Items in Collection 19,549 

Library Card Holders 2,679 

New Library Cards Requested Online 70 

Curbside Pickups 126 

Curbside Copy/Print Transactions  

 

Comparison by Year 

2018-2020 

  
           

 

 

2060
2204

0
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

2018 August 2019 August 2020  August

Attendance

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

2018 August 2019 August 2020 August

Circulation

10.B.a

Packet Pg. 179

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

0-
08

  (
28

06
 :

 L
ib

ra
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

)



In attempting to follow the Phase II guidelines of Governor Cooper’s plan to safely reopen our state during the COVID-

19 crisis: 

• The Library is currently closed to the public and staffed Monday-Friday 9 am – 5 pm, closed Saturday and 

Sunday. 

• Library staff continues to assist patrons remotely, answer phone calls, and complete professional 

responsibilities. 

• The Library is offering Curbside Check-out & Print and Copy services for our patrons. 

• Our Summer Reading Program was successful despite the challenges due to COVID-19. We had 98 registrants 

and held 4 outdoor in-person programs with 152 attendees, and 23,130 minutes read. 

 

 

10.B.a

Packet Pg. 180

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

0-
08

  (
28

06
 :

 L
ib

ra
ry

 R
ep

o
rt

)


	Agenda Packet
	Welcome & Call to Order
	Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance
	Commissioner Ross Munro

	1. Public Comments
	2. Conflict of Interest Disclosure Statement
	3. Consideration of Agenda
	Recess to South Camden Water & Sewer District Board of Directors
	Reconvene Board of Commissioners
	4. Public Hearings
	A. 2804 : Camden Commerce Park Property Sale
	Printout: 2804 : Camden Commerce Park Property Sale
	a. Performance Agreement-ao27Jul20 FINAL


	5. New Business
	A. 2805 : South Mills Landing
	Printout: 2805 : South Mills Landing
	a. South Mills Landing_AgendaSummary100520
	b. 8-26-20 Draft SML  Development Agreement updated per 8-25-20 meeting
	c. ExhibitD with fees Fiscal Year AND CAPACITIES
	d. SML Phasing Plan North
	e. SML Phasing Plan South

	B. 2808 : Tax Report
	Printout: 2808 : Tax Report
	a. July Tax Report
	b. August Tax Report

	C. 2802 : Resolution 2020-10-01 - Proposed Hands-Free Law
	Printout: 2802 : Resolution 2020-10-01 - Proposed Hands-Free Law
	a. Resolution 2020-10-01


	6. Board Appointments
	A. 2798 : Tourism Development Authority
	Printout: 2798 : Tourism Development Authority
	a. Tourism Development Authority


	7. Consent Agenda
	A. 2797 : BOC Meeting Minutes - September 8, 2020
	Printout: 2797 : BOC Meeting Minutes - September 8, 2020
	a. bocminutes_090820

	B. 2803 : Budget Amendments
	Printout: 2803 : Budget Amendments
	a. Budget Amendments

	C. 2795 : DMV Monthly Report
	Printout: 2795 : DMV Monthly Report
	a. DMV Monthly Report Nov, 2020 Ren

	D. 2790 : Tax Collection Report
	Printout: 2790 : Tax Collection Report
	a. Tax Collection Report

	E. 2793 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	Printout: 2793 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	a. Vehicle August Refunds Over $100.00

	F. 2794 : Refunds Over $100.00
	Printout: 2794 : Refunds Over $100.00
	a. August Refunds Over $100.00

	G. 2810 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	Printout: 2810 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	a. Pickups, Releases & Refunds

	H. 2800 : Surplus Property Request
	Printout: 2800 : Surplus Property Request
	a. Surplus Property

	I. 2809 : Order for the Collection of 2020 Taxes
	Printout: 2809 : Order for the Collection of 2020 Taxes
	a. order to collect taxes

	J. 2796 : ABC Funds Report FY 2019-2020
	Printout: 2796 : ABC Funds Report FY 2019-2020
	a. ABC Funds Report for FY 19-20 Camden

	K. 2811 : Proclamation - Domestic Violence Awareness Month
	Printout: 2811 : Proclamation - Domestic Violence Awareness Month
	a. Domestic Violence Awareness Month Proclamation

	L. 2799 : Set Public Hearing - Rezoning Application
	Printout: 2799 : Set Public Hearing - Rezoning Application
	a. 913Hwy343_AgendaSummaryBOC20201005
	b. 20201005_913HWY343S_RezoningFinding
	c. Application
	d. NeighborhoodMeetingResults
	e. PrincipleUseTableComparison
	f. Deed


	8. County Manager's Report
	9. Commissioners' Reports
	10. Information, Reports & Minutes From Other Agencies
	A. 2801 : Register of Deeds Report
	Printout: 2801 : Register of Deeds Report
	a. Register of Deeds Report

	B. 2806 : Library Report
	Printout: 2806 : Library Report
	a. 20-08


	11. Other Matters
	12. Closed Session - Personnel / Review Closed Session Minutes
	13. Adjourn

	Appendix
	4.A · 2804 : Camden Commerce Park Property Sale
	4.A.a · Performance Agreement-ao27Jul20 FINAL

	5.A · 2805 : South Mills Landing
	5.A.a · South Mills Landing_AgendaSummary100520
	5.A.b · 8-26-20 Draft SML  Development Agreement updated per 8-25-20 meeting
	5.A.c · ExhibitD with fees Fiscal Year AND CAPACITIES
	5.A.d · SML Phasing Plan North
	5.A.e · SML Phasing Plan South

	5.B · 2808 : Tax Report
	5.B.a · July Tax Report
	5.B.b · August Tax Report

	5.C · 2802 : Resolution 2020-10-01 - Proposed Hands-Free Law
	5.C.a · Resolution 2020-10-01

	6.A · 2798 : Tourism Development Authority
	6.A.a · Tourism Development Authority

	7.A · 2797 : BOC Meeting Minutes - September 8, 2020
	7.A.a · bocminutes_090820

	7.B · 2803 : Budget Amendments
	7.B.a · Budget Amendments

	7.C · 2795 : DMV Monthly Report
	7.C.a · DMV Monthly Report Nov, 2020 Ren

	7.D · 2790 : Tax Collection Report
	7.D.a · Tax Collection Report

	7.E · 2793 : Vehicle Refunds Over $100.00
	7.E.a · Vehicle August Refunds Over $100.00

	7.F · 2794 : Refunds Over $100.00
	7.F.a · August Refunds Over $100.00

	7.G · 2810 : Pickups, Releases & Refunds
	7.G.a · Pickups, Releases & Refunds

	7.H · 2800 : Surplus Property Request
	7.H.a · Surplus Property

	7.I · 2809 : Order for the Collection of 2020 Taxes
	7.I.a · order to collect taxes

	7.J · 2796 : ABC Funds Report FY 2019-2020
	7.J.a · ABC Funds Report for FY 19-20 Camden

	7.K · 2811 : Proclamation - Domestic Violence Awareness Month
	7.K.a · Domestic Violence Awareness Month Proclamation

	7.L · 2799 : Set Public Hearing - Rezoning Application
	7.L.a · 913Hwy343_AgendaSummaryBOC20201005
	7.L.b · 20201005_913HWY343S_RezoningFinding
	7.L.c · Application
	7.L.d · NeighborhoodMeetingResults
	7.L.e · PrincipleUseTableComparison
	7.L.f · Deed

	10.A · 2801 : Register of Deeds Report
	10.A.a · Register of Deeds Report

	10.B · 2806 : Library Report
	10.B.a · 20-08



